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THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON
BANKING, TRADE AND COMMERCE

The Honourable E. Leo Kolber, Chairman
The Honourable David Tkachuk, Deputy Chair

and

The Honourable Senators:

Angus * Lynch-Staunton

Banks (or Kinsella)
* Carstairs, P.C. Maheu

(or Robichaud, P.C.) Meighen

Furey Oliver

Hervieux-Payette, P.C. Setlakwe

Kelleher P.C.
* Ex Officio Members

(Quorum 4)

Changes in membership of the committee:

Pursuant to Rule 85(4), membership of the committee was amended
as follows:

The name of the Honourable Senator Maheu substituted for that of
the Honourable Senator Hervieux-Payette (February 27, 2001).
The name of the Honourable Senator Kenny substituted for that of
the Honourable Senator Poulin (February 28, 2001).

The name of the Honourable Senator Hervieux-Payette substituted
for that of the Honourable Senator Maheu (March 1, 2001).

The name of the Honourable Senator Maheu substituted for that of
the Honourable Senator Kroft (March 1, 2001).

The name of the Honourable Senator Banks substituted for that of
the Honourable Senator Wiebe (March 1, 2001).

LE COMITE SENATORIAL PERMANENT DES
BANQUES ET DU COMMERCE

Président: 1'honorable E. Leo Kolber
Vice-président: 1’honorable David Tkachuk

et

Les honorables sénateurs:

Angus * Lynch-Staunton

Banks (ou Kinsella)
* Carstairs, c.p. Maheu

(ou Robichaud, c.p.) Meighen

Furey Oliver

Hervieux-Payette, c.p. Setlakwe

Kelleher, c.p.
* Membres d’office

(Quorum 4)

Modifications de la composition du comité:

Conformément a 1’article 85(4) du Reglement, la liste des
membres du comité est modifiée, ainsi qu’il suit:

Le nom de I’honorable sénateur Maheu est substitué a celui de
I’honorable sénateur Hervieux-Payette (le 27 février 2001).

Le nom de I’honorable sénateur Kenny est substitué a celui de
I’honorable sénateur Poulin (le 28 février 2001).

Le nom de I’honorable sénateur Hervieux-Payette est substitué a
celui de 1’honorable sénateur Maheu (le 1¢" mars 2001).

Le nom de I’honorable sénateur Maheu est substitué a celui de
I’honorable sénateur Kroft (le 1¢" mars 2001).

Le nom de I’honorable sénateur Banks est substitué a celui de
I’honorable sénateur Wiebe (le 1" mars 2001).
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ORDER OF REFERENCE ORDRE DE RENVOI
Extract of the Journals of the Senate, Wednesday, Extrait des Journaux du Sénat du mercredi 21 février 2001:
February 21, 2001:

The Honourable Senator Robichaud, P.C., moved, L’honorable sénateur Robichaud, c.p., propose, appuyé
seconded by the Honourable Senator Fairbairn, P.C., that the par I’honorable sénateur Fairbairn, c.p., que le projet de
Bill S-11, An Act to amend the Canada Business loi S-11, Loi modifiant la Loi canadienne sur les sociétés par
Corporations Act and the Canada Cooperatives Act and to actions et la Loi canadienne sur les coopératives ainsi que
amend other Acts in consequence be referred to the Standing d’autres lois en conséquence soit renvoyé au Comité
Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce. sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le greffier du Sénat,

Paul C. Bélisle

Clerk of the Senate
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 21, 2001
M
[English]
The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and

Commerce met at 4:30 p.m. this day, in Room 505, Victoria
Building, for the purpose of organization.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Angus, Furey, Hervieux-Payette, P.C., Kelleher, P.C., Kolber,
Kroft, Meighen, Oliver, Poulin, Setlakwe, Tkachuk and
Wiebe (12).

In attendance: Mr. Stephen L. Harris, and from the
Parliamentary Research Branch, Library of Parliament,
Economics Division: Mr. Alexandre Laurin, Research Officer,
Mr. Marion Wrobel, Senior Analyst.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to Rule 88, the Clerk of the committee presides over
the election of the Chair.

The Honourable Senator Tkachuk moved that the

Honourable Senator Kolber be Chair of the committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was resolved in the
affirmative.

The Honourable Senator Kolber moved that the Honourable
Senator Tkachuk be Deputy Chair of the committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was resolved in the
affirmative.

The Honourable Senator Kolber moved that the
Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be composed of the
Chair, the Deputy Chair and one other member of the committee,
to be designated after the usual consultation; and

That the Subcommittee be empowered to make decisions
on behalf of the committee with respect to its agenda, to
invite witnesses and schedule hearings.

The question being put on the motion, it was resolved in the
affirmative.

The Honourable Senator Tkachuk moved that the

committee print its proceedings; and

That the Chair be authorized to set the number to meet
demand.

The question being put on the motion, it was resolved in the
affirmative.

The Honourable Senator Angus moved that, pursuant to
Rule 89, the Chair be authorized to hold meetings, to receive and
authorize the printing of the evidence when a quorum is not
present, provided that a member of the committee from both the
government and the opposition is present.

The question being put on the motion, it was resolved in the
affirmative.

PROCES-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le mercredi 21 février 2001
©)
[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui, a 16 h 30, dans la picce 505 de I’édifice
Victoria, en vue d’organiser ses travaux.

Membres du comité présents: Les honorables sénateurs Angus,
Furey, Hervieux-Payette, c.p., Kelleher, c.p., Kolber, Kroft,
Meighen, Oliver, Poulin, Setlakwe, Tkachuk et Wiebe (12).

Egalement présents: M. Stephen L. Harris; de la Direction de la
recherche parlementaire, Bibliothéque du Parlement, Division de
I’économie: M. Alexandre Laurin, attaché de recherche et
M. Marion Wrobel, analyste principal.

Aussi présents: Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a ’article 88 du Réglement, le greffier du
comité préside a 1’élection a la présidence.

11 est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Tkachuk que 1’honorable
sénateur Kolber soit président du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

11 est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Kolber que 1’honorable
sénateur Tkachuk soit vice-président du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Kolber que le
Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure se compose du
président, du vice-président et d’un autre membre du comité
désigné apres les consultations d’usage; et

Que le sous-comité soit autorisé a prendre des décisions au
nom du comité relativement au programme, a inviter les
témoins et a établir I’horaire des audiences.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

11 est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Tkachuk que le comité
fasse imprimer des exemplaires de ses délibérations; et

Que le président soit autorisé a modifier cette quantité en
fonction des besoins.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Angus que,
conformément a ’article 89 du Réglement, le président soit
autorisé a tenir des réunions pour entendre des témoignages et a
en permettre la publication en I’absence de quorum, pourvu qu’un
représentant du gouvernement et un représentant de 1’opposition
soient présents.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
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The Honourable Senator Oliver, moved that, pursuant to
Rule 104, the Chair be authorized to report expenses incurred by
the Committee during the last session.

The question being put on the motion, it was resolved in the
affirmative.

The Honourable Senator Hervieux-Payette, P.C, moved that the
committee ask the Library of Parliament to assign research
officers to the committee;

That the Chair be authorized to seek authority from the
Senate to engage the services of such counsel and technical,
clerical, and other personnel as may be necessary for the
purpose of the committee’s examination and consideration of
such bills, subject-matters of bills, and estimates as are
referred to it;

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to retain the services of such experts as may be
required by the work of the committee; and

That the Chair, on behalf of the committee, direct the
research staff in the preparation of studies, analyses,
summaries and draft reports.

The question being put on the motion, it was resolved in the
affirmative.

The Honourable Senator Kroft moved that, pursuant to
section 32 of the Financial Administration Act, authority to
commit funds be conferred individually on the Chair, the Deputy
Chair, and the Clerk of the Committee; and

That, pursuant to section 34 of the Financial Administra-
tion Act, and Guideline 3:05 of Appendix II of the Rules of
the Senate, authority for certifying accounts payable by the
committee be conferred individually on the Chair, the Deputy
Chair, and the Clerk of the Committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was resolved in the
affirmative.

The Honourable Senator Furey, that the committee empower
the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure to designate, as
required, one or more members of the committee and/or such staff
as may be necessary to travel on assignment on behalf of the
committee; and

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to:

1) determine whether any member of the committee is on
“official business” for the purposes of paragraph 8(3)(a) of
the Senators Attendance Policy, published in the Journals
of the Senate on Wednesday, June 3, 1998; and

2) consider any member of the committee to be on
“official business” if that member is: (a) attending a
function, event or meeting related to the work of the
committee; or (b) making a presentation related to the
work of the committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was resolved in the
affirmative.

Il est proposé par 1’honorable sénateur Oliver que,
conformément a 1’article 104 du Reglement, le président soit
autorisé a faire rapport des dépenses faites au cours de la dernicre
session.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

I est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Hervieux-Payette, c.p.
que le comité demande a la Bibliothéque du Parlement d’affecter
des attachés de recherche auprés du comité,;

Que le président soit autoris€é a demander au Sénat la
permission de retenir les services de conseillers juridiques, de
personnel technique, d’employés de bureau et d’autres
personnes au besoin, pour aider le comité a examiner les
projets de loi, la teneur de ces derniers et les prévisions
budgétaires qui lui sont déférées;

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a faire appel aux services d’experts-conseils dont le
comité peut avoir besoin dans le cadre de ses travaux; et

Que le président, au nom du comité, dirige le personnel de
recherche dans la préparation d’études, d’analyses, de
résumés et de projets de rapport.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Il est proposé par 1’honorable sénateur Kroft que,
conformément a 1’article 32 de la Loi sur la gestion des finances
publiques, 1’autorisation d’engager les fonds du comité soit
conférée au président, au vice-président et au greffier du comité;
et

Que, conformément a I’article 34 de la Loi sur la gestion
des finances publiques et a la directive 3:05 de 1’annexe II du
Reéglement du Sénat, 1’autorisation d’approuver les comptes a
payer au nom du comité soit conférée individuellement au
président, au vice-président et au greffier du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Furey que le comité
autorise le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure a
désigner, au besoin, un ou plusieurs membres du comité, de méme
que le personnel nécessaire, qui se déplaceront au nom du comité;

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a:

1) déterminer si un membre du comité remplit un

«engagement public» aux fins de l’alinéa 8(3)a) de la

politique relative a la présence des sénateurs, publiée dans

les Journaux du Sénat du mercredi 3 juin 1998; et

2) considérer qu'un membre du comité remplit un
«engagement public» si ce membre: a) assiste a une
réception, a une activité ou a une réunion se rapportant aux
travaux du comité; ou b) fait un exposé ayant trait aux
travaux du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
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The Honourable Senator Meighen moved that, pursuant to the
Senate guidelines for witnesses expenses, the committee may
reimburse reasonable travelling and living expenses for one
witness from any one organization and payment will take place
upon application, but that the Chair be authorized to approve
expenses for a second witness should there be exceptional
circumstances.

The question being put on the motion, it was resolved in the
affirmative.

The Honourable Senator Poulin moved that the Chair be
authorized to seek permission from the Senate to permit coverage
by electronic media of its public proceedings with the least
possible disruption of its hearings; and

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
empowered to allow such coverage at its discretion.

The question being put on the motion, it was resolved in the
affirmative.

The committee continued its deliberation in camera.

It was agreed that the committee authorize the Chair to request
from the Senate that the papers and evidence received and taken
by the Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce during its study of Bill S-19, An Act to amend the
Canada Business Corporations Act and the Canada Cooperatives
Act and to amend other Acts in consequence, in the Second
Session of the Thirty-sixth Parliament be referred to the
committee for its present study of Bill S-11.

It was agreed that the Standing Senate Committee on Banking,
Trade and Commerce be authorized to examine and report upon
the present state of the domestic and international financial
system;

That the papers and evidence received and taken on the
subject during the First and Second Sessions of the
Thirty-sixth Parliament and any other relevant Parliamentary
papers and evidence on the said subject be referred to the
committee;

That the committee be empowered to permit coverage by
electronic media of its public proceedings with the least
possible disruption of its hearings;

That, notwithstanding usual practices, the committee be
permitted to deposit an interim report on the said subject with
the Clerk of the Senate, if the Senate is not sitting, and that
the said report shall thereupon be deemed to have been
tabled in the chamber; and

That the committee submit its final report no later than
March 31, 2002.

It was agreed that the committee approve the following
proposed budget for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2001, and
that the Chair be authorize to present the said budget to the
Committee on Internal Economy, Budgets and Administration.

Il est proposé par 1’honorable sénateur Meighen que,
conformément aux lignes directrices concernant les frais de
déplacement des témoins, le comité rembourse des dépenses
raisonnables de voyage et d’hébergement a un témoin d’un méme
organisme, aprés qu'une demande de remboursement a été
présentée, mais que le président soit autorisé a permettre le
remboursement de dépenses pour un deuxiéme témoin en cas de

circonstances exceptionnelles.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

11 est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Poulin que le président
soit autorisé a demander au Sénat la permission de diffuser ses
délibérations publiques par les médias d’information
électroniques, de maniére a déranger le moins possible ses
travaux; et

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a permettre cette diffusion a sa discrétion.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le comité poursuit ses délibérations a huis clos.

11 est convenu que le comité autorise le président a demander au
Sénat que les mémoires recus et les témoignages entendus par le
Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce lors de
son examen du projet de loi S-19, Loi modifiant la Loi canadienne
sur les sociétés par actions et la Loi canadienne sur les
coopératives, ainsi que d’autres lois en conséquence, pendant la
deuxieme session de la trente-sixieéme 1égislature, soient renvoyés
au comité pour son étude du projet de loi S-11.

II est convenu que le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques
et du commerce soit autorisé a examiner, afin d’en faire rapport,
I’état actuel du systéme financier national et international;

Que les mémoires regus et les témoignages entendus sur la
question au cours des premicre et deuxicme sessions de la
trente-sixieéme 1égislature, ainsi que tous les autres mémoires
et témoignages pertinents soient renvoyés au comité;

Que le comité soit autorisé a permettre la diffusion de ses
délibérations publiques par les médias d’information électro-
nique de maniere a déranger le moins possible ses travaux;

Que, nonobstant les regles habituelles, le comité soit
autorisé a déposer un rapport provisoire sur la question
aupres du greffier du Sénat, si le Sénat ne siége pas, et que
ledit rapport soit réputé avoir été déposé au Sénat; et

Que le comité soumette son rapport final au plus tard le
31 mars 2002.

I est convenu que le comité approuve le budget suivant pour
I’exercice se terminant le 31 mars 2001, et que le président soit
autorisé a présenter le budget au Comité permanent de la régie
interne, des budgets et de 1’administration.
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Summary of expenditures

Professional & Other Services $6,000
Transportation & communications $2,000
Other Expenditures $2,000
TOTAL $10,000

That in accordance the Procedural Guidelines for the
Financial Operation of Senate Committees, the committee
authorize the Chair to seek authorization to incur expenses
not exceeding $10,000.

At 5:20 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Thursday, March 1, 2001
2
[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
commerce met at 11:00 a.m. this day, in Room 505, Victoria,
Building, the Chairman, the Honourable Senator Kolber,
presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Banks, Kelleher, P.C., Kolber, Maheu, Meighen, Oliver, Setlakwe
and Tkachuk (8).

In attendance: Mr. Stephen L. Harris, and from the
Parliamentary Research Branch, Library of Parliament, Law and
Government Division: Mr. Geoff Kieley, Research Officer.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.
WITNESSES:
From Industry Canada:
Lee Gill, Director, Corporate Law Policy, Corporate
Governance Branch;

Robert Weist, Director, Compliance Branch, Corporations
Directorate;

Veronica Wessels, A/Senior Project Leader, Corporate Law
Policy, Corporate Governance Branch;

Irving Miller, Senior Counsel, Department of Justice;

Paul Martel, Partner, Fasken, Martineau, duMoulin, Barristers
and Solicitors;

Wayne Lennon, Senior Policy Analyst, Corporate Law Policy,
Corporate Governance Branch.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate on
Wednesday, February 21, 2001, the committee began its examin-
ation of Bill S-11, An Act to amend the Canada Business
Corporations Act and the Canada Cooperatives Act and to amend
other Acts in consequence.

Résumé des dépenses

Services professionnels et autres 6000 $
Transport et communications 2000 $
Autres dépenses 20008$
TOTAL 10 000 $

Que, conformément aux Directives régissant le finance-
ment des comités du Sénat, le comité autorise le président a
demander la permission d’engager des dépenses n’excédant
pas 10 000 $.

A 17 h 20, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a convocation
de la présidence.

ATTESTE:

OTTAWA, le jeudi 1°T mars 2001
(@)
[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui, a 11 heures, dans la salle 505 de I’édifice
Victoria sous la présidence de 1’honorable sénateur Kolber
(président).

Membres du comité présents: Les honorables sénateurs Banks,
Kelleher, c.p., Kolber, Maheu, Meighen, Oliver, Setlakwe et
Tkachuk (8).

Aussi présents: M. Stephen L. Harris et, de la Division du droit
et du gouvernement de la Direction de la recherche de la
Bibliothéque parlementaire: M. Geoff Kieley, attaché de
recherche.

Egalement présents: Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.
TEMOINS:
D’Industrie Canada:
Lee Gill, directeur, Politique des lois commerciales, Direction
générale de la régie d’entreprise;
Robert Weist, directeur, Direction de la conformité, Direction
générale des corporations;

Veronica Wessels, agente principale intérimaire de projet,
Politique des lois commerciales, Direction générale de la
régie d’entreprise;

Irving Miller, avocat-conseil, ministére de la Justice;

Paul Martel, associé, Fasken, Martineau, duMoulin, avocats;

Wayne Lennon, analyste principal des politiques, Direction de
la politique des lois commerciales, Direction générale de la
régie d’entreprise.

Conformément a I’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 21 février 2001, le comité entreprend 1’examen du
projet de loi S-11, Loi modifiant la Loi canadienne sur les sociétés
par actions et la Loi canadienne sur les coopératives, ainsi que
d’autres lois en conséquence.
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Mr. Gill made a statement and with the other witnesses M. Gill fait un exposé et, avec les autres témoins, répond aux
answered questions. questions.
At 12:00 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the Chair. A midi, le comité Iéve la séance jusqu’a nouvelle convocation
de la présidence.
ATTEST: ATTESTE:

Le greffier du comité,
Denis Robert

Clerk of the Committee
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE
Thursday, March 1, 2001

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce has the honour to table its

FIRST REPORT

Your Committee, which was authorized by the Senate to incur
expenses for the purpose of its examination and consideration of
such legislation and other matters as were referred to it, reports,
pursuant to Rule 104 of the rules, that the expenses incurred by
the Committee during the Second Session on the
Thirty-sixth Parliament are as follows:

1. With respect to its examination and consideration of
legislation:

Your Committee examined 7 bills (C-22, C-24, C-25,
C-37, S-3, S-19 and S-25).

Professional and other services $ 1,588.55
Transportation and Communications —
All other expenditures —
Witness expenses $ 3.991.03
Total $ 5,579.58

2. With respect to its special study on the financial system in
Canada authorized by the Senate on Tuesday, November 23,
1999:

Within the framework of the examination of the present
state of Canada’s financial system, one study dealt with the
Export Development Act and the other with capital gains
taxation. Moreover, there was a fact-finding mission to
Chicago, Illinois, to gather information pertaining to the
financing of small- and medium-sized businesses in

Canada.
Professional and other services $984.93
Transportation and Communication $39,471.52
All other expenditures $ 6,580.46
Witness expenses
Charged to the main account 9.817.86

Total $ 56,854.77

During the session, your Committee held 32 meetings
(62.6 hours), heard 133 witnesses and submitted 10 reports in
relation to its work.

Respectfully submitted,

RAPPORT DU COMITE
Le jeudi 1 mars 2001

Le comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce a
I’honneur de déposer son

PREMIER RAPPORT

Votre comité, qui a été autorisé par le Sénat a engager des
dépenses aux fins d’examiner les mesures législatives et autres
questions qui lui ont été déférées, rapporte, conformément a
I’article 104 du Réglement, le relevé suivant des dépenses
encourues a cette fin par le comité au cours de la
deuxiéme session de la trente-sixieme 1égislature:

1. Relatif a son étude des mesures législatives:

Votre comité a étudié 7 projets de loi (C-22, C-24, C-25,
C-37, S-3, S-19 et S-25).

Services professionnels 158855 %
Transport et communications —
Autres dépenses —
Dépenses des témoins 399103 %
Total 5579,58 $

2. Relatif a son étude spéciale sur 1’état du systéme financier
canadien autorisée par le Sénat le mardi 23 novembre 1999:

Dans le cadre d’études spéciales sur 1’état du systéme
financier canadien, I’une a été menée sur la Loi sur
I’expansion des exportations et ’autre sur I’impdt en gains
en capital, en plus de se rendre en mission d’information a
Chicago (Illinois), pour approfondir le sujet du financement
des petites et moyennes entreprises au Canada.

Services professionnels 984,93 $
Transport et communications 39 471,52 %
Autres dépenses 6 580,46 $
Dépenses des témoins

Les dépenses des témoins sont

portées au compte principal 9817.86 $
Total 56 854,77 $

Durant la session, le comité a tenu 32 réunions (62.6 heures),
entendu 133 témoins et soumis 10 rapports relatifs a ses travaux.

Respectueusement soumis,

Le président,

LEO KOLBER

Chairman



Banking, Trade and Commerce

1-3-2001

EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 21, 2001

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce met this day at 4:30 p.m. to organize the activities of
the committee.

[English)
Mr. Denis Robert, Clerk of the Committee: Honourable
senators, I see a quorum. As clerk of your committee, it is my

duty to preside over the election of the chair. [ am ready to receive
a motion to that effect.

Senator Tkachuk: I move the nomination of Senator Kolber.

Mr. Robert: Thank you. Are there any other nominations? Not
hearing any other nominations, Senator Kolber, you are elected by
acclamation. Congratulations.

Senator E. Leo Kolber (Chairman) in the Chair.

The Chairman: The second item is the election of deputy
chair. It is my pleasure to move the election of the Honourable
Senator David Tkachuk to be deputy chair of this committee.

Senator Oliver: I second the motion.

The Chairman: Is it agreed, honourable senators, to adopt the
motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chairman: Carried.

The third matter relates to the Subcommittee on Agenda and
Procedure. Do I move that?

Mr. Robert: You or another senator.

The Chairman: Do you all have the agenda? I move:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
composed of the Chair, the Deputy Chair, and one other
member of the committee, to be designated after the usual
consultation; and

That the subcommittee be empowered to make decisions
on behalf of the committee with respect to its agenda, to
invite witnesses, and to schedule hearings.

Shall the motion carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chairman: Carried.
Senator Tkachuk, do you want to move the next one?
Senator Tkachuk: I move:
That the committee print its proceeding; and

That the Chair be authorized to set the number to meet
demand.

The Chairman: All in favour?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Carried. Senator Angus, did you want to move
No. 5?7

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le mercredi 21 février 2001

Le comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
tient aujourd’hui, a 16 h 30, sa séance d’organisation.

[Traduction]

M. Denis Robert, greffier du comité: Honorables sénateurs,
nous avons le quorum. En tant que greffier du comité, je dois
procéder a I’élection du président. Je suis prét a recevoir une
motion a cet effet.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Je propose la candidature du sénateur
Kolber.

M. Robert: Merci. Y a-t-il d’autres candidatures? S’il n’y en a
pas, sénateur Kolber, vous étes élu par acclamation. Félicitations.

Le sénateur E. Leo Kolber (président) occupe le fauteuil.

Le président: Le deuxi¢me point a I’ordre du jour est 1’élection
a la vice-présidence. Il me plait de proposer 1’élection du sénateur
David Tkachuk a la vice-présidence du comité.

Le sénateur Oliver: J’appuie la motion.

Le président: Plait-il aux honorables sénateurs d’adopter la
motion?

Des voix: D’accord.
Le président: La motion est adoptée.

Le troisieme point porte sur le Sous-comité du programme et de
la procédure. Est-ce que je propose la motion?

M. Robert: Vous ou un autre sénateur.

Le président: Avez-vous tous ’ordre du jour? Je propose la
motion voulant:

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure se
compose de la présidence, de la vice-présidence et d’un autre
membre du comité désigné apres les consultations d’usage; et

Que le sous-comité soit autorisé a prendre des décisions au
nom du comité relativement au programme, a inviter les
témoins et a établir I’horaire des audiences.

Etes-vous d’accord?
Des voix: Oui.
Le président: La motion est adoptée.
Sénateur Tkachuk, voulez-vous proposer la prochaine motion?
Le sénateur Tkachuk: Je propose:
Que le comité fasse imprimer ses délibérations; et

Que la présidence soit autorisée a fixer la quantité en
fonction des besoins.

Le président: Etes-vous tous en faveur?
Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion est adoptée. Sénateur Angus
vouliez-vous proposer la motion n° 5?
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Senator Angus: Consider it done. I so move.

The Chairman: That is the authorization to hold meetings and
to print evidence when a quorum is not present.

That, pursuant to Rule 89, the Chair be authorized to hold
meetings, to receive and authorize the printing of the
evidence when a quorum is not present, provided that a
member of the committee from both the government and the
opposition be present.

All in favour?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Carried. Senator Oliver, do you want No. 6?

Senator Oliver: I move:

That, pursuant to Rule 104, the Chair be authorized to
report expenses incurred by the committee during the last
session.

The Chairman: All in favour?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Thank you.

Senator Hervieux-Payette, No. 7, please.
Senator Hervieux-Payette: I move:

That the committee ask the Library of Parliament to assign
research officers to the committee;

[Translation)

That the Chair be authorized to seek authority from the
Senate to engage the services of such counsel and technical,
clerical, and other personnel as may be necessary for the
purpose of the committee’s examination and consideration of

such bills, subject-matters of bills, and estimates as are
referred to it;

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to retain the services of such experts as may be
required by the work of the committee; and

That the Chair, on behalf of the committee, direct the
research staff in the preparation of studies, analyses,
summaries, and draft reports.

[English]
The Chairman: All in favour?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chairman: Carried. Senator Kroft, No. 8, please.

Senator Kroft: I move:

That, pursuant to section 32 of the Financial
Administration Act, authority to commit funds be conferred
individually on the Chair, the Deputy Chair, and the Clerk of
the Committee; and

That, pursuant to section 34 of the Financial
Administration Act, and Guideline 3:05 of Appendix II of the
Rules of the Senate, authority for certifying accounts payable

Le sénateur Angus: C’est comme fait. J’en fais la proposition.

Le président: C’est-a-dire 1’autorisation a tenir des réunions et
I’impression des témoignages en I’absence de quorum.

Que, conformément a ’article 89 du Reglement, la
présidence soit autorisée a tenir des réunions pour entendre
des témoignages et en permettre la publication en 1’absence
de quorum, pourvu qu’un membre du comité du
gouvernement et de 1’opposition soient présents.

Etes-vous tous en faveur?
Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion est adoptée. Sénateur Oliver,
voulez-vous proposer la motion n° 6?

Le sénateur Oliver: Je propose la motion voulant:

Que, conformément a I’article 104 du Reéglement, la
présidence soit autorisée a faire rapport des dépenses faites
au cours de la derniere session.

Le président: Etes-vous tous en faveur?

Des voix: Oui.

Le président: Merci.

Sénateur Hervieux-Payette, la motion n° 7, s’il vous plait.

Le sénateur Hervieux-Payette: Je propose la motion voulant:

Que le comité demande a la Bibliothéque du Parlement

d’affecter des attachés de recherche aupres du comité;
[Frangais)

Que la présidence soit autorisée a demander au Sénat la
permission de retenir les services de conseillers juridiques, de
personnel technique, d’employés de bureau et d’autres
personnes au besoin, pour aider le comité a examiner les
projets de loi, la teneur de ces derniers et les prévisions
budgétaires qui lui sont déférés;

Que le sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a faire appel aux services d’experts-conseils dont le
comité peut avoir besoin dans le cadre de ses travaux; et

Que la présidence, au nom du comité, dirige le personnel
de recherche dans la préparation d’études, d’analyses, de
résumés, et de projets de rapports.

[Traduction]
Le président: Etes-vous tous en faveur?
Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion est adoptée. Sénateur Kroft, la
motion n° §, s’il vous plait.

Le sénateur Kroft: Je propose la motion voulant:

Que, conformément a I’article 32 de la Loi sur la gestion
des finances publiques, 1’autorisation d’engager les fonds du
comité soit conférée individuellement a la présidence, la
vice-présidence, et au greffier du comité; et

Que, conformément a I’article 34 de la Loi sur la gestion
des finances publiques et a la directive 3:05 de I’annexe II du
Réglement du Sénat, I’autorisation d’approuver les comptes a
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by the Committee be conferred individually on the Chair, the
Deputy Chair and the Clerk of the Committee.

The Chairman: All in favour?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Carried. Senator Furey, No. 9.

Senator Furey: I move:

That the committee empower the Subcommittee on
Agenda and Procedure to designate, as required, one or more
members of the committee and/or such staff as may be
necessary to travel on assignment on behalf of the
committee; and

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to:

1) determine whether any member of the committee is on
“official business” for the purposes of paragraph 8(3)(a) of
the Senators Attendance Policy, published in the Journals of
the Senate on Wednesday, June 3, 1998; and

2) consider any member of the committee to be on “official
business” if that member is: (a) attending a function, event or
meeting related to the work of the committee; or (b) making
a presentation related to the work of the committee.

The Chairman: All in favour?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chairman: Carried. Senator Meighen, No. 10, please.

Senator Meighen: I move:

That, pursuant to the Senate guidelines for witnesses
expenses, the committee may reimburse reasonable travelling
and living expenses for one witness from any one
organization and payment will take place upon application,
but that the Chair be authorized to approve expenses for a
second witness should there be exceptional circumstances.

The Chairman: All in favour?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chairman: Carried. Senator Poulin, No. 11.

[Translation)
Senator Poulin: I move,

That the Chair be authorized to seek permission from the
Senate to permit coverage by electronic media of its public
proceedings, with the least possible disruption of its hearings;
and

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
empowered to allow such coverage at its discretion

The Chairman: All in favour?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

payer au nom du comité soit conférée individuellement a la
présidence, la vice-présidence et au greffier du comité.

Le président: Etes-vous tous en faveur?
Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion est adoptée. Sénateur Furey, la

motion n°® 9.

Le sénateur Furey: Je propose:

Que le comité autorise le Sous-comité du programme et de
la procédure a désigner, au besoin, un ou plusieurs membres
du comité, de méme que le personnel nécessaire, qui se
déplaceront au nom du comité; et

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a:
1) déterminer si un membre du comité remplit un
«engagement public» aux fins de 1’alinéa 8(3)a) de la
politique relative a la présence des sénateurs, publiée dans les
Journaux du Sénat du mercredi 3 juin 1998; et

2) considérer qu’un membre du comité remplit un
«engagement public» si ce membre: a) assiste a une
réception, a une activité ou a une réunion se rapportant aux
travaux du comité; ou b) fait un exposé ayant trait aux
travaux du comité.

Le président: Etes-vous tous en faveur?
Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion est adoptée. Le sénateur Meighen, la

motion n° 10, s’il vous plait.

Le sénateur Meighen: Je propose:

Que, conformément aux lignes directrices du Sénat
gouvernant les frais de déplacement des témoins, le comité
peut rembourser les dépenses raisonnables de voyage et
d’hébergement a un témoin d’un méme organisme, apres
qu’une demande de remboursement a été présentée, mais que
le président soit autorisé a permettre le remboursement des
dépenses pour un deuxieéme témoin s’il y a des circonstances
exceptionnelles.

Le président: Etes-vous tous en faveur?
Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion est adoptée. Sénateur Poulin, la

motion n° 11.

[Frangais)

Le sénateur Poulin: Je propose:

Que la présidence soit autorisée a demander au Sénat la
permission de diffuser ses délibérations publiques par les
médias d’information électroniques, de maniére a déranger le
moins possible ses travaux; et

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a permettre cette diffusion a sa discrétion.

Le président: Etes-vous tous en faveur?

Des voix: Oui.
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The Chairman: For information, of course, the time slot for
regular meetings will be 3:30 on Wednesdays and 10:45 on
Thursdays, in this room.

Senator Tkachuk: With respect to No. 12, could I ask why
10:45 rather than the usual eleven o’clock?

The Chairman: I do not have the vaguest idea.

Senator Tkachuk: I am asking. I do not want to be picky, but
because our caucus is small, and not having enough Tories
appointed by the government, we sit on more than one committee.
I am a member of the Agriculture Committee, which sits at
9:00 a.m. I am a member of three committees. All our members
sit on at least two, probably three committees. The Agriculture
Committee usually meets for two hours.

The Chairman: We will change it to eleven o’clock. Consider
it done. It is subject to Senate agreement, of course, but pursuant
to rule 5 the Senate sits at two o’clock, so eleven o’clock is fine.

Senator Tkachuk: For your side, you need to invite them
15 minutes earlier to get here on time.

The Chairman: Oh, you guys too.
We will now move to the in camera portion of our meeting.

The committee continued in camera.

OTTAWA, Thursday, March 1, 2001

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce, to which was referred Bill S-11, to amend the Canada
Business Corporations Act and the Canada Cooperatives Act and
to amend other Acts in consequence, met this day at 11:00 a.m. to
give consideration to the bill.

Senator E. Leo Kolber (Chairman) in the Chair.
[English]

The Chairman: Honourable senators, I see a quorum. The
subject of this morning’s meeting is Bill S-11, to amend the

Canada Business Corporations Act and the Canada Cooperatives
Act and to amend other acts in consequence.

The witnesses are from Industry Canada and the Department of
Justice. Mr. Gill has a presentation to make. Following that,
senators will ask questions that they deem to be appropriate.

Please proceed, Mr. Gill.

Mr. Lee Gill, Director, Corporate Law Policy, Corporate
Governance Branch, Industry and Science Policy Sector,
Industry Canada: Honourable senators, thank you for inviting us
to assist the committee in its deliberations today.

Le président: Pour votre gouverne, évidemment, 1’horaire des
séances régulicres sera les mercredis, a 15 h 30, et les jeudis, a
10 h 45, dans cette salle.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: En ce qui concerne la motion n°® 12,
pourrais-je demander pourquoi 10 h 45 au lieu de 1’heure
habituelle, 11 heures?

Le président: Je n’en ai pas la moindre idée.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Je me demande. Je ne veux pas faire le
difficile, mais parce que notre caucus est petit, et que le
gouvernement n’a pas nommé un nombre suffisant de
conservateurs, nous faisons partie de plus d’un comité. Je suis
membre du Comité de 1’agriculture, qui se réunit a 9 heures. Je
suis membre de trois comités. Tous nos députés font partie d’au
moins deux, probablement trois comités. Les réunions du Comité
de I’agriculture durent habituellement deux heures.

Le président: Nous allons modifier I’horaire pour 11 heures.
Considérez que c’est fait. Evidemment, c’est sous réserve de
I’adoption par le Sénat, mais conformément a ’article 5 du
Réglement, le Sénat se réunit a 14 heures, donc 11 heures, ¢a va.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Pour les sénateurs de votre cOté, vous
devez les convoquer 15 minutes a I’avance pour qu’ils arrivent ici
a I’heure.

Le président: Vous autres aussi.
Nous allons maintenant poursuivre notre réunion a huis clos.

Le comité poursuit ses délibérations a huis clos.

OTTAWA, le jeudi 1°T mars 2001

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce,
auquel on a renvoyé le projet de loi S-11, Loi modifiant la Loi
canadienne sur les sociétés par actions et la Loi canadienne sur les
coopératives ainsi que d’autres lois en conséquence, se réunit
aujourd’hui a 11 heures du matin pour examiner le projet de loi.

Le sénateur E. Leo Kolber (président) occupe le fauteuil.
[Traduction)

Le président: Honorables sénateurs, je vois que nous avons le
quorum. Nous nous réunissons ce matin pour étudier le projet de
loi S-11, Loi modifiant la Loi canadienne sur les sociétés par
actions et la Loi canadienne sur les coopératives ainsi que d’autres
lois en conséquence.

Les témoins sont des hauts fonctionnaires d’Industrie Canada et
du ministére de la Justice. M. Gill a un exposé a nous faire, aprés
quoi les sénateurs poseront les questions qu’ils jugent pertinentes.

Veuillez commencer, monsieur Gill.

M. Lee Gill, directeur, Politique des lois commerciales,
Direction générale de la régie d’entreprise, Secteur politique
industrielle et scientifique, Industrie Canada: Honorables
sénateurs, je vous remercie de m’avoir invité pour seconder les
sénateurs dans leurs délibérations d’aujourd’hui.
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With your permission, I will provide a general overview of the
major elements of Bill S-11, starting with its four key themes, and
then move on to differences between the bill and its predecessor,
Bill S-19.

I will keep my presentation short, in order to allow for the
maximum time for questions and answers, as well as for an
opportunity to provide whatever clarification committee members
might require on various clauses of the bill.

[Translation)

I will not review at this time in detail all of the consultations
that led up to this bill. Most committee members are well aware of
the extensive consultations with interested parties prior to the
drafting of the proposed amendments to the Canada Business
Corporations Act and the Canada Cooperatives Act.

Bill S-19 died on the Order Paper when Parliament was
dissolved last fall. Compared to the earlier version, the bill now
before you contains a number of changes, most of a technical
nature, as well as a number of substantive amendments that I will
focus on in a moment.

The changes culminating in Bill S-11 reflect the comments and
suggestions made by witnesses who testified before your
committee in late spring and early summer of the year 2000, not
to mention the timely observations of committee members.

[English]

The Canada Business Corporations Act is the principal federal
corporate law in Canada. It sets out the legal regulatory
framework for the governance of more than 155,000 businesses,
including one-half of the largest corporations in Canada and tens
of thousands of smaller businesses.

The Canada Cooperatives Act is also an important framework
law, one that governs federally established cooperatives. The
proposed amendments to this act are intended to make its
provisions consistent with the changes that are being proposed for
the Canada Business Corporations Act.

The objective of amending both these acts is to maintain a
marketplace framework law that promotes sound corporate
governance and decision making, while at the same time
providing the flexibility that corporations need to be responsive to
the realities of the evolving marketplace and to new technologies.

The amendments have been considered under four themes. The
first theme is participation. Under the amendments, the right of
shareholders to communicate amongst themselves without undue
regulatory interference is improved. Also, the proposed
amendments will increase the ability of corporations to use new
and emerging technologies to communicate with shareholders.
Furthermore, the amendments before you will increase the rights
of shareholders to make proposals.

Avec votre permission, je vais faire une synthese des principaux
éléments du projet de loi S-11, en commencant avec ses quatre
themes principaux, et ensuite je vous exposerai les différences
entre le projet de loi et son prédécesseur, le projet de loi S-19.

Mon exposé sera court afin de réserver le temps maximum pour
les questions et réponses ainsi que pour me permettre de donner
les éclaircissements que les membres du comité pourraient vouloir
obtenir sur certains articles du projet de loi.

[Frangais)

Je ne ferai pas un historique détaillé des consultations qui ont
mené a ce projet de loi. La plupart des membres du comité sont
bien au courant des vastes consultations avec les intéressés qui ont
précédé la rédaction des modifications proposées a la Loi
canadienne sur les sociétés par actions et la Loi canadienne sur les
coopératives.

La version originale du projet de loi S-19 est morte au
Feuilleton lorsque le Parlement a été dissous I’automne dernier.
Le projet de loi que vous avez devant vous comporte un certain
nombre de changements par rapport a la version précédente. La
plupart d’entre eux sont de nature technique, mais il existe
quelques modifications de fond sur lesquelles je reviendrai dans
un instant.

Les changements qui ont abouti au projet de loi S-11 devant
vous refletent les observations et les suggestions faites par les
témoins que votre comité a entendus a la fin du printemps et au
début de I’été 1’an dernier, ainsi que, il va sans dire, les
observations utiles des membres du comité.

[Traduction)

La Loi canadienne sur les sociétés par actions est la principale
loi commerciale fédérale au Canada. Elle établit le cadre
juridique et réglementaire pour 1’exploitation de plus de
155 000 entreprises, y compris la moitié des plus grandes sociétés
au Canada et des dizaines de milliers de petites entreprises.

La Loi canadienne sur les coopératives est aussi une loi cadre
importante, qui régit les coopératives constituées fédéralement.
Les modifications proposées a cette loi visent a rendre ses
dispositions compatibles avec les changements que I’on propose
d’apporter a la Loi canadienne sur les sociétés par actions.

L’objectif que 1’on vise en modifiant ces deux lois est de
garantir une loi d’encadrement du marché qui favorise une régie
d’entreprise et un processus décisionnel judicieux tout en
accordant aux sociétés la souplesse nécessaire pour leur permettre
de répondre aux réalités d’un marché en évolution et aux
nouvelles technologies.

Les modifications ont été groupées sous quatre thémes. Le
premier est la participation. En vertu des modifications, le droit
des actionnaires de communiquer entre eux sans une ingérence
excessive de nature réglementaire, se trouve amélioré. En outre,
les modifications proposées permettront aux sociétés de pouvoir
mieux utiliser les nouvelles et naissantes technologies pour
communiquer avec les actionnaires. De plus, les modifications
dont vous étes saisis accroitront les droits des actionnaires de faire
des propositions.
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A second thrust of this initiative is competitiveness. It is crucial
that both the Canada Business Corporations Act and the Canada
Cooperatives Act meet the needs of expanding domestic and
globally oriented Canadian corporations. To do this, these acts
need to facilitate innovation and appropriate risk taking. The bill
before you does this through changes to the residency
requirements of directors, the liability provisions affecting
directors and the rules affecting the acquisition of shares of a
parent company by a foreign subsidiary.

With respect to the residency provisions, the bill proposes to
reduce the Canadian residency requirement for the board from a
majority to 25 per cent, except for sectors or corporations that are
subject to ownership restrictions.

In the area of directors’ liability, the amendments would now
provide directors with a due diligence defence.

The bill also proposes to allow a subsidiary to use the shares of
a parent corporation in order to facilitate its acquisition of a
foreign business.

[Translation)

A third thrust of this initiative is clarification of liability. This
objective will be attained by amending provisions respecting the
liability of persons involved in the preparation of financial
information required under the Act.

Following up on the committee’s recommendations, the bill
proposes a regime of modified proportional liability for persons
involved in the preparation of financial information required under
the Canada Business Corporations Act or the Canada
Cooperatives Act.

The bill also includes measures to clarify the transfer of powers
under a unanimous shareholder agreement.

The fourth theme is efficiency. The changes proposed in the bill
will eliminate overlap and reduce costs.

This objective will be attained by repealing the provisions of
the Canada Business Corporations Act relating to take-over bids
and insider transactions and by making them subject to securities
legislation. The proposed amendments also expressly authorize a
distributing corporation to carry out going-private transactions,
provided these comply with relevant provincial securities legisla-
tion.

[English]

I will now turn to the differences between the former bill, S-19,
and Bill S-11.

Un deuxieme objectif de cette initiative est la compétitivité. 11
est crucial que la Loi canadienne sur les sociétés par actions et la
Loi canadienne sur les coopératives répondent aux besoins des
sociétés canadiennes qui font des affaires au pays et dans le
monde entier. Pour y parvenir, ces lois doivent faciliter
I’innovation et la prise de risques appropriés. C’est ce que fait le
projet de loi a I’étude en assouplissant les exigences relatives a la
résidence des membres des conseils d’administration, en
modifiant les dispositions de responsabilité touchant les
administrateurs et les regles relatives a ’acquisition d’actions
d’une société mere par une filiale étrangere.

A T’égard des dispositions concernant la résidence, le projet de
loi propose de ramener de 50 a 25 p. 100 la proportion des
membres du conseil d’administration qui doivent étre des
résidents canadiens sauf dans le cas des secteurs ou des sociétés
qui sont assujettis aux restrictions relatives a la propriété des
actions.

En matiére de responsabilité des administrateurs, les
modifications permettront aux administrateurs d’invoquer une
défense de diligence raisonnable.

Le projet de loi propose également de permettre a une filiale
d’utiliser les actions d’une société mere afin de faciliter son
acquisition d’une entreprise étrangere.

[Frangais)

N

Un troisitme objectif de cette initiative consiste a préciser la
responsabilité. Cet objectif sera atteint en apportant des modifica-
tions qui touchent la possibilité des personnes qui ont participé a
la préparation de renseignements financiers exigés aux termes de
la loi.

Pour donner suite aux recommandations du comité, le projet de
loi propose une responsabilité proportionnelle modifiée pour les
personnes ayant participé a la préparation de renseignements
financiers exigés par la Loi canadienne sur les sociétés par actions
ou la Loi canadienne sur les coopératives.

Le projet de loi apporte également des éclaircissements sur le
transfert des pouvoirs en vertu d’une convention unanime
d’actionnaires.

Le quatrieme théme est celui de 1’efficience. Des modifications
prévues dans le projet de loi élimineront les chevauchements et
réduiront les cofits.

Cet objectif sera atteint en abrogeant des dispositions de la Loi
canadienne sur les sociétés par actions relatives aux offres d’achat
visant a la mainmise et aux transactions d’initié€s et en les
assujettissant aux lois sur les valeurs mobilieres. Les modifica-
tions prévoient aussi expressément des opérations de fermeture de
sociétés ayant fait appel au public, dans la mesure ou le
participant se conforme aux lois provinciales pertinentes sur les
valeurs mobilieres.

[Traduction]

Je vais maintenant passer aux différences entre I’ancien projet
de loi S-19 et le nouveau projet de loi S-11.
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Bill S-11 incorporates many of the suggestions made by the
witnesses this committee heard from last spring and early last
summer with the very helpful comments of committee members
themselves. These amendments are all important to the success of
this reform process. For brevity, I will focus on three of these
amendments.

The first is the inclusion in the Canada Cooperatives Act of the
right of cooperatives members to use electronic communications
in the same manner proposed for shareholders in corporations.
The regime provided in Bill S-19 for the Canada Business
Corporations Act had not originally been duplicated for the
Canada Cooperatives Act. That is because some provisions in this
area had already been made in the Canada Cooperatives Act when
it was passed by Parliament in 1998. However, witnesses from the
cooperatives sector noted their strong preference for the new
regime provided for in Bill S-19. These changes have, therefore,
been introduced.

A second amendment deals with the rules regarding shareholder
proposals. During consideration of Bill S-19 by this committee, a
number of witnesses raised objections to two aspects of the
shareholder proposal provisions as they were then drafted. The bill
proposed to allow corporations to reject a shareholder proposal if
its primary purpose was to promote general economic, political,
racial, religious, social or similar causes, unless the person who
submitted the proposal demonstrated that it related in a significant
way to the business or affairs of the corporation.

Stakeholders objected to the continued ability of corporations to
reject proposals based on social, religious and other similar
causes. They also objected to the fact that the onus was on the
person making the proposal to demonstrate that the proposal
related in a significant way to the business or affairs of the
corporation.

In this new bill, in response to the position of many witnesses,
the general causes for rejection have been removed. The
corporation can now reject a proposal only if it does not relate in a
significant way to the business or the affairs of the corporation.
Further, the burden of proof for the rejection of the proposal is
now on the corporation instead of the shareholder making the
proposal. Shareholders would still have to bring a motion before
the court if the corporation refuses the proposal; however, the
onus would now be on the corporation to justify its refusal.

A third change allows a foreign subsidiary of a Canadian
corporation to temporarily acquire shares of its Canadian parent
corporation in limited and clearly defined circumstances. The
subsidiary will be allowed to use these shares as currency in order
to facilitate the acquisition of a foreign business by merger,
takeover or other business combination. This establishes a more
level playing field for federally incorporated companies.

Le projet de loi S-11 incorpore un grand nombre de
propositions formulées par les témoins au comité le printemps
dernier et au début de I’été ainsi que les observations trés utiles
des membres du comité méme. Ces modifications sont toutes
importantes au succes de cette réforme. Pour gagner du temps, je
vais m’attarder a trois de ces modifications.

La premicre vise a inclure dans la Loi canadienne sur les
coopératives le droit pour les membres de ces dernieres d’utiliser
des moyens é€lectroniques de communication de la méme manicre
que celle proposée pour les actionnaires de sociétés. Le régime
prévu dans le projet de loi S-19 pour la Loi canadienne sur les
sociétés par actions n’existait pas a 1’origine pour la Loi
canadienne sur les coopératives. Cela tient au fait que certaines
dispositions dans ce domaine avaient déja été abordées dans la Loi
canadienne sur les coopératives qui avait été adoptée par le
Parlement en 1998. Cependant, des témoins du secteur des
coopératives ont fait valoir leur préférence nette pour le nouveau
régime prévu dans le projet de loi S-19. Ces changements ont
donc été introduits.

Une deuxieme modification traite des régles concernant les
propositions des actionnaires. Au cours de I’étude du projet de
loi S-19 par votre comité, un certain nombre de témoins ont
soulevé des objections concernant deux aspects des dispositions
relatives aux propositions des actionnaires telles qu’elles étaient
rédigées alors. Le projet de loi proposait de permettre aux sociétés
de rejeter une proposition d’actionnaires si son objet principal était
de servir des fins générales d’ordre économique, politique, racial,
religieux, social ou analogue, a moins que la personne qui ait
soumis la proposition n’ait prouvé que cela avait un rapport
significatif avec les activités commerciales ou les affaires internes
de la société.

Les actionnaires se sont opposés au fait que les sociétés
pouvaient toujours rejeter des propositions dont 1’objectif était de
servir des fins d’ordre social, religieux et analogue. Ils se sont
aussi opposés au fait que c’était a la personne qui faisait la
proposition de prouver que celle-ci était liée de facon importante
aux activités commerciales ou aux affaires internes de la société.

Dans le nouveau projet de loi, en réaction a la position adoptée
par bien des témoins, les causes générales de rejet ont été
éliminées. La société peut désormais rejeter une proposition
seulement si elle n’est pas liée de fagon importante a ses activités
commerciales ou a ses affaires internes. En outre, le fardeau de la
preuve nécessaire pour rejeter la proposition incombe désormais a
la société et non a I’actionnaire qui fait la proposition. Les
actionnaires devront encore présenter une motion devant le
tribunal si la société refuse la proposition; cependant, c’est a la
société de justifier son refus.

Une troisieme modification permet a une filiale étrangére d’une
société canadienne d’acquérir temporairement des actions de sa
société canadienne mére dans des circonstances limitées et
nettement définies. La filiale sera autorisée a utiliser ces actions
comme monnaie courante afin de faciliter 1’acquisition d’une
entreprise étrangere par suite d’une fusion, d’une acquisition ou de
tout autre regroupement d’entreprises. Les compagnies constituées
en vertu d’une loi fédérale peuvent ainsi s’affronter plus
loyalement sur le terrain.
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[Translation)

Finally, regulations pertaining to a wide range of matters will be
brought in. Among other things, they will touch on the following:
the harmonization of the Canada Business Corporations Act and
of the relevant provisions of provincial acts; detailed rules for the
submission of shareholder proposals; the investment threshold that
defines a small investor for the purposes of the application of the
modified proportional liability regime; detailed rules governing
electronic communications between corporations and their
shareholders; additional exceptions relating to the rules for proxy
solicitation; and rules setting out the circumstances in which
subsidiaries may acquire shares of the parent corporation.

[English]

Mr. Chairman, for the convenience of senators, we have
circulated a chart that offers a side-by-side comparison of the
differences between the former bill and this one. If you wish, we
are prepared to take members of the committee through this
comparison.

I thank you for your attention. We will be pleased to respond to
any questions you might have on Bill S-11.

The Chairman: Perhaps you could highlight what you
consider to be contentious issues.

Mr. Gill: T hope that not too many of them are contentious. I
will highlight the major ones.

On the first page of the summary of differences, the first three
items are wording changes — which represent issues that were
brought before us. They are all significant wording changes in the
interpretation of the bill, but the fourth one, dealing with
clause 18(2), is to permit a subsidiary to acquire shares in the
parent corporation. I mentioned that in my presentation. The
reason for the amendment is to level the playing field for
Canadian corporations when they want to acquire shares in a
corporation elsewhere. For example, if you want to acquire a
corporation in the United States, one option is to have your
subsidiary acquire the corporation — to present the shares of the
parent corporation through the subsidiary to the shareholders of
the corporation you are acquiring. In doing that, there are certain
tax benefits for the people to whom you are giving the shares of
the parent corporation. Therefore, there is a certain reduction in
cost of acquiring a firm. That is standard procedure in the United
States we are told. We are told that it is already allowed under the
Ontario Business Corporations Act and we have received requests
to level the playing field to provide CBCA corporations with that
opportunity also, which is why this is here.

The Chairman: I assume that a subsidiary can acquire shares
of the parent without necessarily having to depend on somebody
else to acquire something.

[Frangais)

Enfin, des reglements portant sur un vaste éventail de sujets
s’ajouteront aux lois. Ils porteront notamment sur les aspects
suivants: I’harmonisation de la Loi canadienne sur les sociétés par
actions et les dispositions pertinentes des lois provinciales;
les regles détaillées pour la présentation des propositions
d’actionnaires; le seuil d’investissement qui définit un petit
investisseur pour I’application du régime de responsabilité
proportionnelle modifiée; les regles détaillées qui régiront
les communications électroniques entre les sociétés et leurs
actionnaires; des exceptions supplémentaires relatives aux régles
sur la sollicitation des procurations; les régles définissant dans
quels cas les filiales peuvent acquérir des actions de leur société
mere.

[Traduction)

Monsieur le président, par courtoisie pour les sénateurs, nous
vous avons fait distribuer un tableau comparatif ou figurent
cote-a-cote les différences entre I’ancien projet de loi et celui-ci.
Si vous le désirez, nous sommes préts a examiner ces tableaux
avec les membres du comité.

Je vous remercie de votre attention. Nous nous ferons un plaisir
de répondre aux questions que vous pourriez avoir sur le projet de
loi S-11.

Le président: Peut-étre pourriez-vous souligner les questions
que vous jugez litigieuses.

M. Gill: J’espere qu’elles ne seront pas trop nombreuses. Je
vais souligner les plus importantes.

Sur la premicre page de I’état récapitulatif des différences, les
trois premiers articles sont des changements de libellé — qui
représentent des questions qui nous ont été signalées. Ces
changements sont tous importants dans I’interprétation du projet
de loi mais le quatriéme, qui a trait au paragraphe 18(2) vise a
permettre a une filiale d’acquérir des actions de sa personne
morale mere. J’en ai parlé dans mon exposé. La raison de cette
modification est d’établir des regles du jeu égales pour les sociétés
canadiennes lorsqu’elles veulent acquérir des actions dans une
société ailleurs. Par exemple, si vous voulez acquérir une société
aux Etats-Unis, vous pouvez faire acquérir la société par votre
filiale — présenter les actions de la personne morale mere, par
I’entremise de la filiale, aux actionnaires de la société que vous
voulez acquérir. Ce faisant, il en découle certains avantages
fiscaux pour les gens auxquels vous donnez les actions de la
personne morale meére. Par conséquent, il s’ensuit une certaine
réduction du cofit lorsqu’on fait I’acquisition d’une société. C’est
une méthode courante aux Etats-Unis, nous dit-on. On nous dit
également que cette méthode est déja autorisée en vertu de la Loi
sur les sociétés par actions de I’Ontario et nous avons recu des
demandes d’uniformisation pour permettre aux sociétés régies par
la Loi canadienne sur les sociétés par actions de pouvoir s’en
prévaloir, ce qui explique la présence de cette modification.

Le président: Je suppose qu’une filiale peut acquérir des
actions de la personne morale mere sans avoir nécessairement a
compter sur quelqu’un d’autre pour se les procurer.
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Mr. Gill: No, under the CBCA a subsidiary is currently not
allowed to acquire the shares.

The Chairman: If they acquire the shares, they must use them?

Mr. Gill: There are some exemptions, but in this case they
must use them. It is a kind of a flow-through. They use them as a
currency for the purchase of a foreign subsidiary. A subsidiary is
currently not allowed to hold the shares of a parent.

The Chairman: Why would they not just use the cash?

Mr. Gill: If you pay it in cash, the shareholder of the foreign
subsidiary faces a capital gains tax.

The Chairman: This would be a tax-free exchange?
Mr. Gill: Yes.
The Chairman: Now it makes sense.

Senator Tkachuk: My questions are relevant to the rights of
shareholders to present a proposal to the agenda of the corporation
for an annual meeting.

How will a reverse onus actually work? It previously had to do
with the direct business of the corporation.

Now it seems that you are saying that the corporation has to be
able to prove that it has nothing to do with the direct business of
the corporation. Does that mean that a shareholder can present
something to management that is of no value to the corporation
and then take it all the way to court and that there would always
be a reverse onus on the corporation to prove otherwise? Is that is
what you are saying here?

Mr. Gill: My understanding is that that is what reversing the
onus would amount to.

Senator Tkachuk: So it can be political?

Mr. Gill: Yes.

Senator Tkachuk: If shareholders did not like a forest
company’s tree-cutting policies, even though it was following the
law, and they then bought shares to become politically involved in
the corporation, they would be able to file the right to bring this
issue to the annual meeting and the corporation would have to
prove the issue had nothing to do with business, even though such
was self-evident?

Mr. Gill: It would have to show that it does not have a
significant relationship with the business or affairs of the
corporation. If it does have a significant relationship — and
anyone can jump in if I make an error here — then the
shareholder has to show that he or she held a certain number of
shares for a certain period of time to prove that they are a serious
shareholder. You cannot just buy the day before.

Senator Tkachuk: What would be the time period —
six months?

Mr. Gill: I believe it is six months, $2,000, or 1 per cent of the
corporation.

M. Gill: Non, en vertu de la LCSA une filiale n’est pas
autorisée a I’heure actuelle a acquérir les actions.

Le président: Si elle les acquiert, elle doit les utiliser?

M. Gill: 1l y a certaines exceptions, mais en 1’occurrence elle
doit les utiliser. C’est une sorte d’apport constant. Ces actions
servent a I’achat d’une filiale étrangére. A 1’heure actuelle, une
filiale n’est pas autorisée a détenir les actions d’une personne
morale mere.

Le président: Pourquoi ne pas simplement utiliser 1’argent
comptant?

M. Gill: Si vous payez comptant, 1’actionnaire de la filiale
étrangere devra payer une taxe sur les gains en capitaux.

Le président: Ce serait un échange net de taxes?
M. Gill: Oui.
Le président: Maintenant c’est compréhensible.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Mes questions se rapportent aux droits
des actionnaires de présenter une proposition au programme de la
société pour tenir une réunion annuelle.

Comment la charge de la preuve inversée s’applique-t-elle en
réalité? Auparavant cela devait se rapporter aux activités directes
de la société.

11 semble maintenant que vous disiez que la société doit pouvoir
prouver que cela n’avait rien a voir avec ses activités commercia-
les directes. Est-ce a dire alors qu’un actionnaire peut présenter a
la direction une proposition sans valeur pour la société et
s’adresser ensuite au tribunal et que la société devrait toujours
pouvoir prouver qu’il en est autrement? Est-ce bien ce que vous
dites?

M. Gill: A ma connaissance, c’est 2 quoi aboutirait le
recouvrement de la charge de la preuve.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Il peut donc y avoir un élément
politique?
M. Gill: Oui.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Si les méthodes d’abattage des arbres
d’une compagnie forestiere déplaisaient aux actionnaires, méme si
celle-ci respectait la loi, et que les actionnaires aient acheté les
actions pour s’immiscer dans les affaires de la société sous un
angle politique, ils pourraient demander le droit de soulever cette
question a ’assemblée annuelle et la société devrait prouver que
la question n’a rien a voir avec ses activités commerciales méme
si cela allait de soi?

M. Gill: Elle devrait prouver que la question n’est pas liée de
facon importante aux activités commerciales de la société. Si la
question a effectivement un rapport important — et quiconque
peut se sentir libre de me reprendre — alors 1’actionnaire doit
prouver qu’il ou elle détient un certain nombre d’actions pendant
une certaine période pour prouver qu’il ou elle est un actionnaire
sérieux. On ne peut pas simplement acheter les actions la veille.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Quelle serait la durée de la période...
six mois?

M. Gill: Je crois que c’est six mois, 2 000 $, ou 1 p. 100 de la
société.
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The Chairman: I do not think that was the question.

Mr. Gill: No. I am getting to the question. They have to be
significant shareholders.If they go before the court and it is shown
that it relates significantly to the business or the affairs of the
corporation, they have the ability to submit this proposal.

The issue also is that in the act there are restrictions on how
often you can resubmit the same proposal. There is a protection
there for the corporations.

Ms Veronica Wessels, Acting Senior Project Leader,
Corporate Law Policy, Corporate Governance Branch,
Industry Canada: Another point that should be made is that the
onus in the current legislation is on the corporation to prove that it
does not relate in a significant way to the business or the affairs of
the corporation. In Bill S-11, we are eliminating the grounds that
the stakeholders were objecting to, but the onus on the corporation
is there right now. In Bill S-19, the onus had been shifted to the
shareholders, and the stakeholders objected to that. It is status quo
in terms of the onus.

Senator Oliver: My question is also around the shareholder
proposals. You say that detailed rules for submission of
shareholder proposals will come later on in a set of regulations.
Will there be guidelines in addition to regulations, or will there
just be regulations?

Mr. Robert Weist, Director, Compliance Branch, Corpor-
ations Directorate, Industry Canada: Right now there will just
be regulations. Regulations do set out guidelines, what one must
do to get one’s proposal forward. What Mr. Gill was talking about
was when your proposal has been submitted before and voted on
by the company.

Senator Oliver: I understand that. I read about that. I wanted to
know if there was one thing called the legislation, another thing
called the regulations, and another thing called guidelines?

Mr. Weist: Yes. We do not plan to issue guidelines on that
point right now. If there is shown to be confusion, we can
certainly issue guidelines as that confusion shows it is necessary.

Senator Oliver: Have you done guidelines for other sectors?

Mr. Weist: Yes, we have.

Senator Oliver: The new words you use, since you got rid of
such words as “economic”, “racial”, and so on, are “business” and
“affairs”. Will you attempt to define those two words in the

regulations or in the guidelines?

Mr. Weist: They are not defined in the regulations right now. If
it is shown that people have difficulty understanding what
“business” and “affairs” are, then we will issue guidelines.

Le président: Je ne pense pas que c’était 1a la question.

M. Gill: Non. J’y arrive. Il faut que ce soit des actionnaires
marquants. S’ils s’adressent au tribunal et prouvent que leur
proposition est liée de facon importante aux activités
commerciales ou aux affaires internes de la société, ils peuvent
alors soumettre leur proposition.

La loi comporte des restrictions sur le nombre de fois ou 1’on
peut représenter la méme proposition. Cela vise a protéger les
sociétés.

Mme Veronica Wessels, agente principale intérimaire de
projet, Politique des lois commerciales, Direction générale de
la régie d’entreprise, Industrie Canada: Un autre argument
qu’il faut faire valoir c’est que, dans la législation actuelle, le
fardeau de la preuve incombe a la société qui doit montrer que la
proposition n’est pas liée de facon importante a ses activités
commerciales ou a ses affaires internes. Dans le projet de loi S-11,
nous supprimons les motifs auxquels les actionnaires s’opposaient
mais le fardeau de la preuve incombe a la société. Dans le projet
de loi S-19, ce fardeau incombant aux actionnaires, lesquels s’y
sont opposés. C’est le statu quo en ce qui concerne le fardeau de
la preuve.

Le sénateur Oliver: Ma question porte aussi sur les
propositions des actionnaires. Vous dites que les reégles détaillées
concernant les propositions que pourront soumettre les
actionnaires seront présentées plus tard sous forme de réglements.
Y aura-t-il des lignes directrices outre les réglements, ou
simplement les reglements?

M. Robert Weist, directeur, Direction de la conformité,
Direction générale des corporations, Industrie Canada: Pour le
moment il n’y aura que des réglements. Ceux-ci énoncent des
lignes directrices, prescrivant comment on doit procéder pour
présenter une proposition. Ce dont M. Gill parlait c’était des cas
ou la proposition avait été soumise auparavant et avait fait 1’objet
d’un vote par la compagnie.

Le sénateur Oliver: Je comprends cela. Je me suis renseigné.
Je voulais savoir s’il y avait d’une part la mesure législative,
d’autre part les réglements, et en outre des lignes directrices?

M. Weist: Oui. Nous ne projetons pas d’émettre des lignes
directrices a ce sujet pour le moment. Si ’on discerne une certaine
confusion, nous en publierons certes deés qu’il sera évident que
c’est nécessaire.

Le sénateur Oliver: Avez-vous énoncé des lignes directrices
pour d’autres secteurs?

M. Weist: Oui.

Le sénateur Oliver: Les nouveaux mots que vous employez,
puisque vous vous étes débarrassé des adjectifs «économique»,
«racial», et cetera, sont «activités commerciales» et «affaires
internes». Allez-vous définir ces deux mots dans les réglements ou
dans les lignes directrices?

M. Weist: IIs ne sont pas définis dans les reglements a I’heure
actuelle. Si I’on s’apercoit que les gens ont de la difficulté a
comprendre ce que veulent dire les activités commerciales et les
affaires internes de la société, nous publierons des lignes
directrices.
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Senator Oliver: Are you able to state for the record now what
things will be expressly included or excluded in your definition
of “business” or “affairs”?

Mr. Weist: We are not. This bill says that it has to be related in
a significant way to the business or affairs of the corporation. That
is what this bill states.

Senator Oliver: Can you think of anything more general? It
does not give much assistance to a shareholder that wants to make
a proposal, does it?

Mr. Irving Miller, Senior Counsel, Commercial Law
Division, Industry Canada and Justice Canada: I believe there
is a definition of “affairs” in the act, in the definition section,
although not of “business”. “Affairs” is defined as:

...the relationships among a corporation, its affiliates and the
shareholders, directors and officers of such bodies corporate
but does not include the business carried on by such bodies
corporate.

There is a general definition that may offer some assistance,
basically saying that it is the relationship between the corporation
and the shareholders, and officers and directors.

Senator Oliver: In terms of that, I presume that it does not
include economic, political, racial, religious, social or similar
causes. It would not be broad enough to encompass that; is that
correct?

Mr. Gill: I am not sure of that. As soon as this bill goes before
the courts in terms of a challenge, much of this will come to be
defined. It could well include economic things. It will be seen as
to how the court defines the business of the corporation and the
significant relationship, in particular, to the business of
corporation.

The Chairman: I am a little confused here. I thought that you
had now taken political and religious out?

Mr. Gill: We have taken out the specific references to those,
yes.

The Chairman: Taking it out does not mean eliminating it?
Senator Oliver: That is what we are saying.

Mr. Weist: The question was about whether something that has
religious, social or economic overtones could be seen to be related
to the business or affairs of the corporation. This will have to be
settled on a case-by-case basis.

The Chairman: Can you think of an example of anything
religious that would affect a corporation?

Senator Meighen: I would suggest cutting trees on Sunday.

The Chairman: Ms Wessels said that with respect to the onus
of proof it was the status quo, but Mr. Gill said that in the former
law the onus was on the shareholder and now it is on the
corporation.

Le sénateur Oliver: Btes-vous en mesure de déclarer
officiellement maintenant quelles choses seront expressément
incluses ou exclues dans votre définition d’activités commerciales
ou affaires internes de la société?

M. Weist: Non. Selon le projet de loi, la proposition doit étre
liée de facon importante aux activités commerciales ou aux
affaires internes de la société. C’est ce que dit ce projet de loi.

Le sénateur Oliver: N’avez-vous pas une explication plus
générale? Cela n’est pas d’un grand secours pour 1’actionnaire qui
veut faire une proposition, n’est-ce pas?

M. Irving Miller, avocat-conseil, Section du droit commer-
cial, Industrie Canada et Justice Canada: Je crois que la loi
donne une définition des mots «affaires internes» de la société —
dans I’article relatif aux définitions, mais il n’y en a pas pour le
mot «activités commerciales». Les affaires internes sont définies
comme Suit:

[...] les relations, autres que d’entreprise, entre la société, les
personnes morales appartenant au méme groupe et leurs
actionnaires, administrateurs et dirigeants.

C’est une définition générale qui peut étre d’un certain secours,
et qui dit essentiellement qu’il s’agit des relations entre la société
et les actionnaires, et les administrateurs et dirigeants.

Le sénateur Oliver: J’imagine que cette définition n’inclut pas
des fins générales d’ordre économique, politique, racial, religieux,
social ou analogue. Cette définition ne serait pas assez vaste pour
comprendre tout cela, n’est-ce pas?

M. Gill: Je n’en suis pas certain. Dés que le projet de loi sera
contesté devant les tribunaux, la majorité de ces expressions
seront définies. La définition pourrait inclure des fins d’ordre
économique. On verra comment le tribunal définit les affaires
internes de la société et les relations importantes, en particulier
avec les activités commerciales de la société.

Le président: Je suis un peu perplexe. Je croyais que vous
aviez désormais retirer les fins d’ordre politique et religieux?

M. Gill: Nous avons retiré les références précises a ces fins-la,
oui.

Le président: Les retirer ne signifie pas les éliminer?
Le sénateur Oliver: C’est ce que je disais.

M. Weist: La question était de savoir si une proposition qui a
des connotations religieuses, sociales ou économiques pourrait
étre interprétée comme se rapportant aux activités commerciales
ou aux affaires internes de la société. C’est un probleme qu’il
faudra régler au cas par cas.

Le président: Pouvez-vous nous donner un exemple ayant un
caractere religieux qui influerait sur la société?

Le sénateur Meighen: L’abattage des arbres le dimanche.

Le président: Mme Wessels a dit qu’en ce qui concerne le
fardeau de la preuve, c’était le statu quo, mais M. Gill a dit que
dans 1’ancienne loi le fardeau de la preuve incombait a
I’actionnaire et qu’il incombe maintenant a la société.
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Mr. Gill: In Bill S-19, the onus had been placed on the
shareholder.

The Chairman: In this one, it is on the corporation?

Mr. Gill: In this one, it is on the corporation, which is where it
is in the act right now.

The Chairman: Where was it?

Mr. Gill: In the CBC right now, it is on the corporation. We
had moved it to being on the shareholder in Bill S-19.

Senator Oliver: In the bill before us last year, it changed the
onus. A lot of witnesses appeared and said it was wrong.

The Chairman: You are putting it back to the way it was?

Mr. Gill: We are putting it back the way it was, yes.
The Chairman: That is what you meant by “status quo™?

Mr. Gill: Yes.

Senator Meighen: Perhaps this is for Mr. Martel. I have not
been practising enough law and my mind is not devious enough to
figure out how to use the courts either for or against, but I think
this is a heaven-sent opportunity to tie things up. Can we just
follow through what would happen?

The corporation, before its annual meeting, must send out a
notice of the annual meeting to incorporate any of the proposals of
the corporation. First, it would have to state which ones it rejected
or not. When will it have to say which ones are rejected in terms
of the date of the annual meeting?

The legislative summary from the Library of Parliament
specifies that there are 21 days that the corporation has to consider
a proposal made by a shareholder. How much time does the
statute require that the proposal be filed before the date of the
annual meeting or after receipt of the notice of the annual
meeting? Or is there any such requirement?

Mr. Weist: As you said, senator, the corporation has to give
notice of the meeting 21 to 50 days prior to it. Before that, the
shareholder who wishes to make a proposal has 90 days within
that timeframe to make his or her proposal.

Senator Meighen: You have now lost me completely.

Mr. Weist: For example, let us say the company will hold its
meeting on June 30.

Senator Meighen: If I were a shareholder, how would I know
that; and when would I know that?

Mr. Weist: The act provides that the corporation must hold an
annual meeting.

M. Gill: Dans le cas du projet de loi S-19, c’est 1’actionnaire
qui a le fardeau de la preuve.

Le président: Dans le cas du présent projet de loi, est-ce la
société?

M. Gill: Dans le cas de ce projet de loi-ci, c’est la société, tout
comme dans la loi actuelle.

Le président: Et auparavant?

M. Gill: A 'heure actuelle, dans la LCSA, c’est la société qui a
le fardeau de la preuve. Dans le projet de loi S-19, c¢’était
I’actionnaire.

Le sénateur Oliver: Le projet de loi que nous avons examiné
I’année dernicre changeait donc le fardeau de la preuve. Beaucoup
des témoins I’ont déploré.

Le président: Donc vous rétablissez ici ce qui existait
antérieurement?

M. Gill: Oui, nous rétablissons ce qui existait antérieurement.

Le président: C’est ce que vous vouliez dire en parlant du statu
quo?
M. Gill: Oui.

Le sénateur Meighen: Ma question s’adresse sans doute a
M. Martel. Le droit ne m’occupe pas assez c’est temps-ci et je ne
sais pas assez manigancer pour arriver a me servir des tribunaux
dans un sens ou dans ’autre, mais je crois que nous avons ici une
occasion révée de tirer les choses au clair. Voyons voir ensemble
comment les choses se dérouleraient.

Avant son assemblée annuelle, la société doit envoyer un avis
de convocation faisant état des propositions concernant la société.
Celle-ci doit d’abord indiquer quelles propositions elle a refusées
et quelles elle n’a pas refusées. Compte tenu de la date de
I’assemblée annuelle, quand doit-elle indiquer quelles propositions
ont été refusées?

Il est indiqué dans le résumé législatif préparé par la
Bibliotheque du Parlement que la société dispose de 21 jours pour
I’examen d’une proposition d’actionnaire. Selon la loi, combien
de jours I’actionnaire dispose-t-il pour présenter une proposition
avant la date de 1’assemblée annuelle ou apres la réception de
I’avis de convocation? Ou la loi contient-elle une telle
disposition?

M. Weist: Vous ’avez bien dit, sénateur, la société doit envoyer
I’avis de convocation entre le cinquantieme et le vingt et unieéme
jour qui précedent la date de ’assemblée annuelle. Avant ce délai,
I’actionnaire qui souhaite déposer une proposition dispose de
90 jours a Iintérieur de cette période pour le faire.

Le sénateur Meighen: Maintenant je ne m’y retrouve plus du
tout.

M. Weist: Disons que la société va tenir son assemblée
annuelle le 30 juin.

Le sénateur Meighen: Si je suis actionnaire, comment et
quand en serai-je mis au courant?

M. Weist: 1l est indiqué dans la loi que la société doit tenir une
assemblée annuelle.
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Senator Meighen: Exactly, but there is a fair degree of latitude
as to when, is that not right?

Mr. Weist: Right.

Senator Meighen: Under the CBCA, it has to hold its annual
meeting within six months of its year end, is that not right,
Mr. Martel?

Mr. Paul Martel, partner, Fasken Martineau DuMoulin:
That is right.

Senator Meighen: It is a six-month period. Let us say its year
end is December 31. Thus, it has until June 30. Let us say that I
am a shareholder. I do not know when it will hold its annual
meeting. When will I find out? How much notice must I be given
or is there any requirement to set out the date of the annual
meeting?

Mr. Weist: You must be given 21 to 50 days’ notice of that
meeting.

Mr. Martel: The bill states that the proposal must be submitted
at least the prescribed number of days, which will be 90 days,
before the anniversary date of the notice of the meeting that was
sent to the shareholders in connection with the previous annual
meeting. Therefore, you know the date of the previous annual
meeting.

Ms Wessels: If I could add to that, the information circular
will have disclosure of the drop-dead date for submission of a
proposal the next year. In the information circular, there is a
change to the regulations that will require the corporation to
disclose that drop-dead date for submitting a proposal for the
following year. Thus, the deadline for the submission of a
proposal for the following year will be clear.

Senator Meighen: Are you referring to the information circular
preceding the annual meeting for, let us say, this year?

Ms Wessels: Yes.

Senator Meighen: As a shareholder, I would then know when
next year’s annual meeting would be.

Ms Wessels: You will not know when next year’s annual
meeting will be. However, you will know what the deadline for
submitting your proposal will be. That is something for which
stakeholders asked, and we have done it.

Senator Meighen: Roughly speaking, the deadline would be
how many days before the annual meeting? Did you say 90 days?

Mr. Martel: It is 90 days before the date of the notice of the
previous annual meeting, which was at least 21 days before the
year was up. Thus, it is even earlier than the date of the meeting
itself. It is at least the date of the notice that the shareholders
receive for that meeting.

Senator Meighen: Let me go at it from a different angle. I
wish to go at this from the perspective of either someone who is
trying to get their proposal heard and the corporation is refusing or

Le sénateur Meighen: C’est juste, mais elle est assez libre de
décider de la date, n’est-ce pas?

M. Weist: En effet.

Le sénateur Meighen: Aux termes de la LCSA, la société est
obligée de tenir son assemblée annuelle dans les six mois qui
suivent la fin de son exercice financier, est-ce bien cela, monsieur
Martel?

M. Paul Martel, associé, Fasken, Martineau, DuMoulin:
C’est bien cela.

Le sénateur Meighen: Il y a donc un battement de six mois.
Disons que son exercice se termine le 31 décembre. Elle doit donc
tenir son assemblée avant le 30 juin. Disons que je suis
actionnaire. J’ignore la date de 1’assemblée annuelle. Quand en
serai-je avisé? Quel préavis doit-on me donner de I’assemblée
annuelle, ou y a-t-il une disposition fixant la date de 1’assemblée
annuelle?

M. Weist: On doit vous donner un avis de convocation entre le
50¢ et le 21° jour qui précedent 1’assemblée annuelle.

M. Martel: Le projet de loi stipule que la proposition doit étre
soumise avant le délai réglementaire, qui est au moins 90 jours
avant ’expiration d’un délai d’un an a compter de la derniére
assemblée annuelle. La date de celle-ci est connue.

Mme Wessels: J’aimerais ajouter que la circulaire indiquera la
date limite de soumission d’une proposition 1’année suivante.
Dans le cas de la circulaire, le reglement a ét€ modifi€ de manicre
a exiger que la société indique la date limite de soumission d’une
proposition pour 1’année suivante. Ainsi, la date limite de
soumission d’une proposition pour I’année suivante sera claire.

Le sénateur Meighen: Parlez-vous de la circulaire précédant
I’assemblée annuelle pour, disons, I’année en cours?

Mme Wessels: Oui.

Le sénateur Meighen: Etant actionnaire, je saurais donc la
date de I’assemblée annuelle de I’année suivante.

Mme Wessels: Vous ne connaitrez pas la date de ’assemblée
annuelle de I’année suivante. Vous connaitrez toutefois la date
limite pour la soumission de votre proposition. Les actionnaires
nous ont demandé de prévoir une telle disposition, et c’est ce que
nous avons fait.

Le sénateur Meighen: En gros, la date limite serait combien
de jours avant ’assemblée annuelle? Avez-vous dit 90 jours?

M. Martel: C’est 90 jours avant la date de 1’avis de
convocation de la dernicre assemblée annuelle envoyé aux
actionnaires, qui était au moins 21 jours avant I’expiration du
délai d’un an. Cette date limite vient donc avant la date limite
pour I’envoi de I’avis de convocation. Elle correspond au moins a
la date de I’avis de convocation envoyé aux actionnaires.

Le sénateur Meighen: Permettez-moi d’aborder tout cela d’un
autre angle. Je vais adopter la perspective aussi bien de la
personne qui veut faire entendre sa proposition que de la société
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vice versa. I am trying to figure out whether this legislation is fair
to both sides.

Let us say that I submit my proposal. The corporation has
21 days to consider it; is that right?

Mr. Gill: Yes.

Senator Meighen: I have read in the bill that section 47 of the
draft regulations would give the corporation 21 days instead of the
current 10 days to consider; is that right?

Ms Wessels: Yes.

Senator Meighen: They have 21 days to consider it. Let us say
they reject it. How close to the annual meeting date could that be?

Mr. Weist: If you are asking about the corporation rejecting the
proposal, it depends on when the proposal was filed.

Senator Meighen: Let us say the proposal was filed the last
legal day on which it could be filed.

Mr. Weist: You are supposing that it is filed on the 51st day or
the 22nd, for example?

Senator Meighen: Right. Let us say it is the shortest delay,
then. That is to say that it is at the last possible moment to submit,
which is 21 days before. We now have 21 days to consider and
then we have the annual meeting. Am I confused?

Mr. Martel: Clause 7 states that the corporation has within the
prescribed period, which will be 21 days, from the day it received
the proposal to notify the person of its refusal.

Senator Meighen: I understand that. Take a corporation, give
any day you want for the annual meeting and let us work
backward.

Mr. Martel: Let us say July 1.

Senator Meighen: When would the notice have to have been
given?

Mr. Martel: At least 21 days before that.

Senator Meighen: Are you referring to the notice of the annual
meeting?

Mr. Martel: Yes.

Senator Meighen: Let us say that I am a devious corporation
and I give notice 22 days before.

Mr. Martel: All right.

Senator Meighen: Therefore, I will give notice on June 8. Let

us say my friend the shareholder, who is Senator Tkachuk, will
get the notice on June 22 and he wants to file a proposal.

Mr. Martel: He already knows that the date by which he would
have to send the proposal is the one we set out before, which was
the anniversary date of the notice of the previous meeting. We
have to look at that one, too. Let us say that in the previous year

qui y oppose un refus. J’essaie de savoir si cette mesure législative
est juste pour les deux cotés.

Disons que je soumets ma proposition. La société a 21 jours
pour I’examiner, est-ce exact?

M. Gill: Oui.

Le sénateur Meighen: J’ai lu dans le projet de loi que
I’article 47 du projet de réglement prévoit que la société dispose
de 21 jours plutdt que des 10 jours que prévoit la loi actuelle pour
examiner la proposition; est-ce bien cela?

Mme Wessels: Oui.

Le sénateur Meighen: La société a 21 jours pour examiner la
proposition. Disons qu’elle la refuse. A combien de jours de
I’assemblée annuelle ce refus pourrait-il avoir lieu?

M. Weist: Si vous parlez du refus de la proposition de la part
de la société, tout cela dépend de la date de dépdt de cette
proposition.

Le sénateur Meighen: Disons que la proposition a été déposée
le dernier jour du délai que prévoit la loi pour le dépot d’une
proposition.

M. Weist: Dites-vous qu’elle est déposée le 51° jour ou le
22¢ jour, par exemple?

Le sénateur Meighen: C’est cela. Prenons le délai le plus
court. La liste limite a laquelle on peut soumettre une proposition
est 21 jours avant I’assemblée annuelle. Il y a donc 21 jours pour
étudier la proposition et ensuite il y a ’assemblée annuelle. Est-ce
que j’ai bien compris?

M. Martel: Selon I’article 7, la société dispose du délai
réglementaire fixé, c’est-a-dire 21 jours suivant la réception de la
proposition, pour donner avis a 1’actionnaire de son refus de la
joindre a la circulaire.

Le sénateur Meighen: Ca, je le sais. Prenons une société,
fixons la date de 1’assemblée annuelle et remontons dans le temps
a partir de Ia.

M. Martel: Disons que c’est le 1°" juillet.

Le sénateur Meighen: Quand I’avis doit-il étre donné?

M. Martel: Au moins 21 jours avant cette date.

Le sénateur Meighen: Parlez-vous de ’avis de convocation a
I’assemblée annuelle?

M. Martel: Oui.

Le sénateur Meighen: Disons que la société aime les
manigances et donne avis 22 jours avant I’assemblée annuelle.

M. Martel: Je vois.

Le sénateur Meighen: Donc, elle donnera avis le 8 juin.
Disons que mon ami ’actionnaire, le sénateur Tkachuk, recevra
I’avis le 22 juin et qu’il veut soumettre une proposition.

M. Martel: Il sait déja que la date limite a laquelle il peut
envoyer une proposition est celle que nous avons déja fixée,
c’est-a-dire le délai d’un an a compter de la date de 1’avis de
convocation de la derniére assemblée annuelle envoyé aux
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the meeting was held on June 1 and that the notice for that one
was at least 21 days before, that is, May 10.

Senator Meighen: All right.

Mr. Martel: He knows that he has to have had his proposal in
by May 10.
Ms Wessels: It has to be 90 days before May 10.

Mr. Martel: Yes, 90 days before that. If it is not in, it does not
change anything. If he does not receive the notice, it is far too late
to submit the proposal for that year.

Senator Meighen: We have demonstrated, I think, that it is not
an easy concept to grasp. Do I understand that in the previous
year’s notice shareholders will be advised in clear language as to
when any proposal would have to be submitted for the next year’s
meeting?

Ms Wessels: Yes.

Mr. Weist: Senator Meighen, it is my fault for misleading you.
Regulation 43 of the draft says that the prescribed number of days
for submitting a proposal to the corporation is at least 90 days
before the anniversary date.

The Chairman: The anniversary of what?

Senator Meighen: Is it the anniversary date of the previous
year’s notice of the annual meeting?

Mr. Weist: That is right. If you have 21 days before the
meeting, then add 90 days on to that. If they submit their proposal
90 days before that, then their proposal is fine. It is 90 days or
three months.

To use your example, if we go back to May 10, then add on
three months before that. That takes us to February. Therefore, it
would be before February 10 that the shareholder submits the
proposal.

Senator Meighen: Are you telling me that it would have to be
in by February 10?

Mr. Weist: That is right.

Senator Meighen: Let us say that I learn about this at the last

minute and I get in my proposal on February 10. The corporation
now has 21 days to consider; is that right?

Mr. Weist: That is right.

Senator Meighen: That brings us to March 3, and the
corporation says, “Sorry, but we are rejecting it.” When is the
annual meeting?

Mr. Weist: I believe the annual meeting is June 30 or July 1.

actionnaires. Il faut tenir compte également de cette date. Disons
que ’année d’avant I’assemblée a eu lieu le ler juin et que I’avis
de convocation a cette assemblée devait la précéder d’au moins
21 jours, ce qui correspond au 10 mai.

Le sénateur Meighen: D’accord.

M. Martel: 11 sait qu’il doit soumettre sa proposition au plus
tard le 10 mai.

Mme Wessels: Elle doit étre soumise dans les 90 jours qui
précedent le 10 mai.

M. Martel: C’est ¢a, dans les 90 jours qui précedent. Si la
proposition n’est pas soumise dans ce délai, peu importe que
I’avis de convocation arrive en retard. Si votre ami ne le regoit
pas, il est déja bien trop tard de toute fagon pour soumettre une
proposition pour cette année-la.

Le sénateur Meighen: Je crois que nous avons démontré que
tout cela n’est pas facile a saisir. Puis-je dire que 1’avis de
convocation de I’année antérieure indiquera clairement aux
actionnaires la date limite de soumission d’une proposition pour
I’assemblée de 1’année suivante?

Mme Wessels: Oui.

M. Weist: Sénateur Meighen, c’est ma faute si vous avez mal
compris. L’article 43 du projet de reglement précise que la
proposition doit étre soumise avant le délai réglementaire —
c’est-a-dire au moins 90 jours — précédant 1’expiration d’un délai
d’un an a compter de la date de 1’avis de convocation de la
dernicre assemblée annuelle envoyé aux actionnaires.

Le président: A compter de quoi?

Le sénateur Meighen: Est-ce a compter de la date de I’avis de
convocation pour la dernicre assemblée annuelle?

M. Weist: C’est bien ca. Si I’avis de convocation doit étre
donné 21 jours avant 1’assemblée, vous y ajoutez 90 jours. Si
I’actionnaire soumet sa proposition 90 jours avant cette date, les
conditions sont remplies. C’est 90 jours ou trois mois.

En prenant votre exemple, si nous remontons au 10 mai, on
rajoute trois mois encore et cela nous amene a février. Ce serait
donc avant le 10 février que 1’actionnaire soumettrait la
proposition.

Le sénateur Meighen: Etes-vous en train de me dire que la
proposition doit étre soumise au plus tard le 10 février?

M. Weist: C’est bien ca.

Le sénateur Meighen: Disons que je suis mis au courant de
tout ca a la derniere minute et que je réussis a soumettre ma
proposition le 10 février. La société dispose de 21 jours pour
I’examiner; c’est bien ¢a?

M. Weist: C’est bien ca.

Le sénateur Meighen: Cela nous amene au 3 mars, puis la
société vous annonce: «Désolé, nous la refusons». Quand
I’assemblée annuelle doit-elle avoir lieu?

M. Weist: Je crois que 1’assemblée annuelle a lieu le 30 juin
ou le 1°T juillet.
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Senator Meighen: That takes us to March, April, May. We are
talking about a minimum of four months. In the alternative, you
could play with the 90 days in terms of changing the annual
meeting within that six-month parameter from one year to the
next.

Mr. Weist: The board will have to decide the best time for its
annual meeting.

Senator Tkachuk: The way it works now is that you have six
months after your year end. If your year-end is January 31, you
have one meeting in July. The following year, the shareholder
submits an application on February 10, which is the deadline date,
after the 90 days, and the corporation which had its year-end on
January 31 calls the annual meeting within 21 days.

Senator Tkachuk: The corporation can call its annual meeting.
It must give notice, and what is its minimum notice?

Mr. Weist: Twenty-one days.

Senator Tkachuk: If this is a contentious application, they call
the annual meeting in 21 days, from February 10, when they
arrived. One must remember that the year-end was the 31st. They
say they will have their information ready, they know what is
going on, they have the impending audit report, but we know the
financial statements are completed and they will call the annual
meeting.

All they need to do is reject it at the end of 21 days. The annual
meeting has taken place by the time they go to court. It is over
until the following year, right? Is that possible to do? I am not
saying that that is what they will do; I am saying that that will be
possible to do. I think that is what I would do.

Senator Banks: If you did that, you would pre-empt any such
report.

Senator Tkachuk: That would pre-empt any such proposal.
Senator Banks: However, you could only do that for one year.
Senator Maheu: The next year they would get you.

Senator Meighen: I think we should work through a number of
scenarios.

Mr. Wayne Lennon, Policy Analyst, Industry Canada:
Honourable senators, if that were the case, it would be clear that
the corporation was trying to avoid something. A shareholder
could, if he wished, possibly apply to the court to get an
injunction on the meeting to stop the meeting until the matter was
considered. Is that not right, Mr. Martel?

Mr. Martel: The proposed legislation stipulates that the person
who claims to be aggrieved by a refusal may seek an order from
the court preventing the meeting from being held at which the

Le sénateur Meighen: Nous en sommes donc a mars, avril,
mai. Il est donc question d’un minimum de quatre mois. Il y a
toujours moyen de jouer avec ces 90 jours, c’est-a-dire de
changer la date de 1’assemblée annuelle pour qu’elle tombe dans
ce parametre de six mois d’une année a ’autre.

M. Weist: C’est au conseil d’administration de fixer la
meilleure date pour 1’assemblée annuelle.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Selon les dispositions actuelles, la
société a jusqu’a six mois apres la fin de son exercice pour tenir
cette assemblée. Si votre exercice se termine le 31 janvier, vous
tenez une assemblée en juillet. L’année d’ensuite, 1’actionnaire
soumet une proposition le 10 février, la date limite du délai de
90 jours, et la société, dont I’exercice se termine le 31 janvier,
convoque son assemblée annuelle dans 21 jours.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: La société peut convoquer son
assemblée annuelle. Elle doit en donner avis, et quel est le délai
minimum?

M. Weist: Vingt et un jours.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Si la proposition est litigieuse, ils
convoquent 1’assemblée annuelle dans 21 jours, a partir du
10 février, date limite de soumission des propositions. N’oublions
pas que I’exercice s’est terminé le 31. IIs affirment qu’ils auront
toutes les données, qu’ils sont au courant de tous, que les rapports
de vérification sont sur le point d’étre publiés, mais nous savons
que les états financiers sont terminés et qu’ils convoqueront
I’assemblée annuelle.

IIs n’ont qu’a refuser la proposition a la fin du délai de
21 jours. ’assemblée annuelle est une chose du passé au moment
ou ils vont devant les tribunaux. Il n’y aura pas d’autre assemblée
avant ’année suivante, n’est-ce pas? N’est-il pas possible d’agir
ainsi? Je ne dis pas que c’est ce qu’ils feront; je dis simplement
que c’est ce qu’ils pourraient faire. Je pense que c’est ce que je
ferais moi-méme.

Le sénateur Banks: Agir ainsi, c’est anticiper tous ces
rapports.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: C’est anticiper les propositions de cette
nature.

Le sénateur Banks: Vous ne pourriez le faire que cette
année-la.

Le sénateur Maheu: L’année suivante, on vous attendra au
tournant.

Le sénateur Meighen: Examinons quelques scénarios.

M. Wayne Lennon, analyste principal des politiques,
Industrie Canada: Honorables sénateurs, si la société agissait de
cette facon, on verrait tout de suite qu’elle veut cacher quelque
chose. Un actionnaire pourrait s’adresser aux tribunaux pour
obtenir une injonction empéchant la tenue de 1’assemblée jusqu’a
ce que la question soit examinée. N’est-ce pas le cas, monsieur
Martel?

M. Martel: Le projet de loi précise que sur demande de
I’auteur de la proposition qui prétend avoir subi un préjudice suite
au refus de la proposition, le tribunal peut, par ordonnance,
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proposal is to be sought. There is no way that they will let the
meeting happen and then say it is too late.

Senator Meighen: Is it your judgment, Mr. Martel, that there
would be adequate time under any scenario to get the matter
before a court to receive a hearing on an expedited basis or to get
an injunction?

Mr. Martel: Yes, that is the case. Normally, if they did not try
to do what you just described, the meeting should be about a year
after the first one. A period of four months is allotted in order to
do that. That is plenty of time. However, in the alternative, a court
would simply postpone or stop the meeting.

Senator Banks: Before we leave this issue, I have some
difficulty with someone telling us what a court will do.

Senator Meighen: No, that is his opinion.

Senator Banks: I am uncomfortable with leaving so much
interpretation in the onus question for the corporation to
determine.

I can see a thousand ways — it is almost like counting angels
on the heads of pins — in which a proposal by a shareholder
relates to the affairs as described and the business, which I
presume does include the business operations of a corporation.

An environmentalist, in the example given, could argue that it
is in the corporation’s best interest to be a publicly responsible
corporation not to log that particular valley. That is hard to argue.
I do not see how we could presume what a court would say as to
whether that has to do with the business of the corporation.

I am not comfortable with leaving that much unsaid in
proposed legislation and relying to that extent right off the bat and
saying, “We will see what this act actually means when a court
decides what it means.” Are you convinced that it is a good idea?
Are we comfortable with that?

Mr. Miller: There is some uncertainty, no matter which way
you word it. The present act provides that the corporation is not
required to comply if it appears that the proposal relates to
subjects such as economics, politics, race, religion, social factors
or similar causes. That is not an overwhelming burden on the
corporation. If a proposal has several aspects, which normally
they will, the corporation must only show that one of those
aspects relates to politics, race or some other such cause, and that
is sufficient to refuse the proposal.

In this bill, the onus is on the corporation to show that it does
not relate to the business or affairs of the corporation. That seems
to be a much greater onus for the corporation to meet. I grant you
that business affairs can be interpreted in different ways, but
generally the courts have looked at them in a consistent manner.
However, I am not confident that applications will be consistent.

empécher la tenue de 1’assemblée a laquelle la proposition devait
étre présentée. Il est impensable qu’ils puissent tenir la réunion et
affirmer qu’il est trop tard maintenant pour examiner la
proposition.

Le sénateur Meighen: Selon vous, monsieur Martel, y a-t-il
suffisamment de temps, quel que soit le scénario, pour saisir un
tribunal de 1’affaire et compter sur une décision rapide ou obtenir
une injonction?

M. Martel: J’en suis convaincu. Ordinairement, si la société
n’essaie pas de faire ce que vous venez de décrire, 1’assemblée
aurait lieu environ un an apres la derniere. Un délai de quatre
mois est prévu pour toutes ces mesures. Il y a amplement de
temps. Cependant, s’il le faut, un tribunal pourrait simplement
retarder ou empécher la tenue de 1’assemblée.

Le sénateur Banks: Je tiens a dire, avant que nous ne passions
a autre chose, que cela me dérange toujours un peu quand
quelqu’un prétend savoir ce qu’un tribunal fera.

Le sénateur Meighen: Non, c’est son opinion.

Le sénateur Banks: Je n’aime pas non plus que la société
puisse compter sur une interprétation si vaste de ce qui constitue
le fardeau de la preuve.

Je vois mille et une facons — c’est un peu comme chercher des
poils sur les oeufs — de faire en sorte que la proposition d’un
actionnaire se rapporte aux activités commerciales et aux affaires
internes de la société.

Un environnementaliste, par exemple, pourrait prétendre qu’il
est dans I’intérét de la société de se comporter en bon citoyen et
de ne pas procéder a I’exploitation forestieére d’une certaine vallée.
Ce serait difficile de trancher. Je ne crois pas qu’il soit possible de
savoir a ’avance ce qu’un tribunal décidera dans un cas comme
celui-la a propos des activités de la société.

Cela me dérange que 1’on s’en remette tant a I’interprétation
dans une mesure législative, a tel point que ’on dit tout de suite
en partant: «Nous verrons ou cette loi nous amene en laissant les
tribunaux décider.» Etes-vous convaincus que c’est une bonne
idée? Est-ce une chose que nous sommes préts a accepter?

M. Miller: 1l y aura toujours de I’ambiguité, quelle que soit la
formulation que 1’on adopte. Selon la loi actuelle, la société peut
refuser une proposition si celle-ci se rapporte a des choses telles
que I’économie, la politique, la race, la religion, les facteurs
sociaux ou d’autres causes semblables. La société peut parvenir
assez facilement a prouver qu’il en est ainsi. Si une proposition
porte sur plusieurs questions, comme c’est ordinairement le cas, il
suffit que la société démontre que 1’une de ces questions se
rapporte a la politique, a la race ou a une autre chose de cette
nature pour que la proposition puisse étre refusée sans appel.

Dans le présent projet de loi, c’est a la société qu’il appartient
de prouver que la proposition ne se rapporte pas aux activités ou
aux affaires internes de la société. Ce semble étre la un fardeau
beaucoup plus lourd. Je reconnais que 1’on peut interpréter de
différentes fagons ce qui constitue les activités commerciales ou
les affaires internes d’une société, mais, en général, les tribunaux
ont été uniformes a cet égard. Je doute fort cependant que 1’on
puisse en dire autant des recours.
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Senator Banks: Notwithstanding that there are many
shareholders’ proposals that are good, valuable and substantive,
are you satisfied that there is sufficient protection for corporations
here against vexatious and frivolous proposals?

Mr. Miller: If a matter does not relate at all to the business or
affairs of the corporation, if you are saying it is vexatious, to me a
vexatious claim would not relate in any significant way to the
business or affairs of the corporation that could be refused by the
corporation. There is something of a balance here in terms of
where will you lean in terms of providing the onus. It is a fair test
now. A purely vexatious proposal will be able to be refused.

You do not want to get into too much detail on what is business
or affairs. Affairs are defined in a general way, but if that is
limited too much you will restrict it and not allow courts the
flexibility they need to look at each case distinctively.

It is always dangerous to try to be too specific with some of
these terms. That is why we refer to them generally.

The Chairman: On the question of modified proportionate
liability, what kinds of plaintiffs are exempted from the
application of modified proportionate liability regime and how did
you arrive at the investment threshold of $20,000?

Mr. Gill: Exemptions are provided for charitable organizations
for unsecured trade creditors and the government. For those
groups, we felt that they were not in the sense of other major
investors that could influence the corporation. It could be ensured
that the financial situation and the audit of the corporation were
carried out appropriately.

For the small investors, we took the figure this committee had
come up with, and originally it was a net worth test of $100,000,
excluding certain assets such as your house and other things, or
$500,000. We examined this and we were informed that this could
raise a potential issue with respect to the Charter, or a
constitutional issue with respect to privacy because we were
requiring groups to divulge their assets.

We examined that. If you had $100,000 to $500,000 worth of
net assets, what is the most you would likely have invested in a
given corporation?If you were reasonably diversified, you would
probably have a maximum of $20,000 in one company.

Senator Oliver: You said up to $500,000.
Mr. Gill: The amount of $500,000 would include your house.

The Chairman: You are not referring to assets but to net
worth, are you not?

Mr. Gill: Yes, net worth.

It was our understanding that this committee had discussed that
issue and agreed that $20,000 would be an appropriate number
and would probably represent an investor with net worth of the
amounts this committee was considering. These are not exactly

Le sénateur Banks: Nous savons bien que les propositions des
actionnaires sont en grande partie pertinentes, utiles et fondées,
mais étes-vous convaincus que les sociétés sont suffisamment
protégées dans ce projet de loi contre les propositions vexatoires
et frivoles?

M. Miller: Si une question n’a rien a voir avec les activités
commerciales ou les affaires internes de la société — je suppose
que c’est ce que vous appelez une proposition vexatoire —,
j’estime qu’une telle proposition vexatoire ne serait pas liée de
facon importante aux activités commerciales ou aux affaires
internes de la société et que la société pourrait la refuser. Il y a un
juste milieu ici pour ce qui est du fardeau de la preuve. Je dirais
donc que les dispositions sont équitables. Il sera possible de
refuser une proposition purement vexatoire.

Vous ne tenez pas a aller dans les détails sur la nature des
activités ou des affaires. Les activités sont définies de facon
générale, mais si c’est trop limité, vous y imposez des restrictions
et vous ne donnez pas aux tribunaux la flexibilité dont ils ont
besoin pour examiner distinctement chaque cas.

I1 est toujours risqué d’essayer d’étre trop spécifique avec
certains de ces termes. C’est pourquoi nous en parlons de facon
générale.

Le président: Mais au sujet de la responsabilité proportionnelle
modifiée, quel genre de plaignants sont exemptés de 1’application
du régime de responsabilité proportionnelle modifiée et comment
avez-vous déterminé le seuil d’investissement de 20 000 $?

M. Gill: Les exemptions sont prévues pour les organismes de
charité, pour les fournisseurs non garantis et le gouvernement.
Nous avons pensé que ces groupes n’étaient pas comme les autres
grands investisseurs qui peuvent influencer la société. L'on peut
s’assurer que la situation financicre et la vérification de la société
soient effectuées de facon appropriée.

Pour les petits investisseurs, nous avons pris le chiffre que ce
comité avait proposé, et a I’origine il était question d’un capital
net de 100 000 $, a I’exception de certains biens, comme le
domicile et d’autre choses, ou 500 000 $. Comme nous y
réfléchissions on nous a appris que ceci pourrait potentiellement
soulever un probleme relativement a la Charte, ou encore a la
Constitution, relativement a la protection de la vie privée, parce
que nous exigions des groupes qu’ils dévoilent leurs biens.

Nous avons donc examiné la question. Avec des avoirs d’une
valeur nette de 100 000 $ a 500 000 $, quel montant maximal
seriez-vous disposé a investir dans une entreprise particuliere? Si
vos biens sont raisonnablement diversifiés, vous avez
probablement mis au maximum 20 000 $ par compagnie.

Le sénateur Oliver: Vous avez dit jusqu’a 500 000 §$.
M. Gill: Dans ces 500 000 $, on compte votre maison.

Le président: Vous ne parlez pas des biens mais de leur valeur
nette, n’est-ce pas?

M. Gill: Oui, leur valeur nette.

D’apres ce que nous avions compris, ce comité avait discuté de
la question et avait convenu que 20 000 $ serait un chiffre

appropri¢ et représenterait probablement un investisseur dont la
valeur nette correspondrait au montant que le comité envisageait.
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equivalent figures, but they are reasonable figures given what we
are trying to do.

Senator Oliver: I wish to refer the witnesses to a letter that
was sent to our chairman by an investment representative. Much
of the shareholder proposal discussion that we have had arises
from what I call the Talisman case. Last year, this provision
permitted corporate management at Talisman Energy to reject a
legitimate shareholders’ resolution raising human rights risks
facing the company because of its Sudan operations.

An amendment that you have proposed states that management
can exclude such proposals unless the shareholder demonstrates
that the proposal relates significantly to the business affairs of the
corporation.

A letter sent to our chairman says:

This does not improve this provision. It still means that
management has the arbitrary authority to exclude bona fide
proposals. What’s more, shareholders need to show in court
how their proposals relate to the company’s business or
affairs. The need to appear in court can be a costly and time
consuming to exercise...

Once again, individual shareholders have major concerns with
the position you are now in. Before you proposed the changes that
are in this bill in the sections we have been discussing, did you
consult with any of the people who appeared before this
committee and made these complaints? If so, why are they now
writing letters to our chairman complaining about the language in
this bill?

Mr. Gill: We have consulted with these groups. We have
proposed a number of changes that they have requested. With
respect to one of your points, the onus is on the corporation to
prove that it is not related significantly to the business or the
affairs of the corporation. That is a significant change. It certainly
reduces the cost to the shareholder of providing proof to the court.

We acknowledge that some witnesses wanted a scheme
whereby they would not have to go to court, and that was not
provided. There are large numbers of issues in the act that would
require court action by dissatisfied shareholders, and this is one of
them.

As was pointed out by some witnesses, in the United States the
Securities and Exchange Commission does a preliminary review
of the situation.

Given the number of shareholder proposals that would be made,
and, therefore, refusals, it did not seem economic to set up a group
within the federal government to review shareholder proposals
just for CBC corporations, as would be the case. If there were a
national body covering securities commissions, other acts and
ourselves, that might be feasible. It would be difficult to set up, as
you can well imagine. We have analyzed that and are currently
evaluating whether that can be done in the future. In fact, we have

Ce ne sont pas exactement des chiffres équivalents, mais ils sont
raisonnables, pour ce que nous essayons de faire.

Le sénateur Oliver: J’aimerais parler aux témoins d’une lettre
qu’un représentant en valeurs mobilieéres a envoyée a notre
président. Une bonne part de la discussion que nous avons sur la
proposition d’actionnaire découle de ce que j’appelle 1’affaire
Talisman. L’année derniere, cette disposition a permis a la
direction de Talisman Energy de rejeter une résolution tout a fait
légitime des actionnaires qui mettait en relief le fait que les
activités de la société au Soudan risquaient de porter atteinte aux
droits de la personne.

Selon une modification que vous avez proposée, la direction
peut exclure de telles propositions a moins que 1’actionnaire
démontre que la proposition se rapporte sensiblement aux activités
ou aux affaires des sociétés dont ils détiendraient des actions.

Dans une lettre envoyée a notre président, on lit ce qui suit:

Cet amendement n’améliorerait nullement la disposition. En
effet, elle préserverait le pouvoir discrétionnaire des diri-
geants de sociétés de refuser de mettre a 1’étude des
propositions 1égitimes et en plus, les actionnaires devraient
maintenant démontrer devant les tribunaux en quoi leurs
propositions se rapporteraient sensiblement aux activités ou
aux affaires des sociétés dont ils détiendraient des actions. La
nécessité de comparaitre devant un tribunal peut cofiter cher
en argent et en temps]...]

La encore, les actionnaires s’inqui¢tent beaucoup de la position
ol vous vous trouvez maintenant. Avant de proposer les
changements qui se trouvent dans ce projet de loi, aux articles
dont nous avons discuté, avez-vous le moindrement consulté les
gens qui ont comparu devant ce comité et qui ont formulé ces
plaintes? Le cas échéant, pourquoi écrivent-ils maintenant des
lettres a notre président pour se plaindre de la formulation de ce
projet de 1oi?

M. Gill: Nous avons consulté ces groupes. Nous avons proposé
plusieurs changements qu’ils ont demandés. Pour répondre a I’'une
de vos questions, c’est a la société qu’il incombe de prouver qu’il
n’y a pas de lien important avec les activités ou les affaires de la
société. C’est un changement d’importance. Il réduit certainement
ce qu’il en cofite a ’actionnaire de fournir la preuve au tribunal.

Nous reconnaissons que certains témoins auraient préféré un
scénario selon lequel ils n’auraient pas a se présenter devant un
tribunal, et rien n’a été prévu en ce sens. Il y a beaucoup de
problémes, dans cette loi, qui nécessiteraient un recours en justice
des actionnaires insatisfaits, et ceci en est un.

Comme I’ont signalé certains témoins, aux Etats-Unis, la
Security and Exchange Commission fait un examen préliminaire
de la situation.

Etant donné le nombre de propositions d’actionnaires qui
seraient faites, et, par conséquent, de rejets, il n’a pas semblé
économique de créer un groupe au sein du gouvernement fédéral
chargé d’examiner les propositions d’actionnaires seulement pour
les sociétés régies par la Loi sur les sociétés, comme ce serait le
cas. S’il y avait un organe national s’occupant des commissions
des valeurs mobilieres, d’autres lois et de nous, ce serait peut-étre
faisable. Ce serait difficile 2 mettre sur pied, comme vous pouvez
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let a contract on this. It is not yet completed. We are working on
that issue, but it is not something that we or anyone else who has
studied it consider an easy thing to do given the situation in
Canada with respect to different laws and different national
securities bodies.

Senator Oliver: In your introductory remarks you said that you
did do consulting. Can you be specific? Did you simply phone
people? Did you actually meet with groups? What form did the
consultations take?

Mr. Gill: We met with the Task Force on Churches, we met
with Mr. Yaron, and we also met with Democracy Watch to
discuss these issues.

The Chairman: In our hearings to be held the week after next,
we will hear from people on making applications to corporations
for changes in whatever. It would be helpful if you could send a
chart to each member of the committee outlining what Senator
Meighen was referring to, that being time lines, et cetera, and
walking us through one or two typical scenarios. If we have that,
we will be more conversant with the matter when we hear from
those witnesses.

Mr. Gill: We can do that.

Senator Banks: You said that almost half of the large
corporations in Canada are incorporated under this act. Under
what act are the others incorporated?

Mr. Gill: They are incorporated under various provincial acts, a
large number of which are here in Ontario.

Senator Banks: However, all large federal publicly traded
corporations are incorporated under this act?

Mr. Gill: Yes.

The Chairman: Thank you very much for informing us. We
look for forward to receiving that chart.

The committee adjourned.

bien I’imaginer. Nous avons analysé la possibilité et, actuellement,
nous tentons de déterminer si ce peut étre fait dans le futur. En
fait, nous avons attribué un contrat pour cette étude, et ce n’est pas
encore terminé. Nous travaillons sur la question, mais ce n’est pas
quelque chose que nous, ou quiconque d’autre qui 1’a étudiée,
trouvions facile a faire, étant donné la situation au Canada avec
ses les lois différentes et les divers organes nationaux relatifs aux
valeurs mobiliéres.

Le sénateur Oliver: Dans vos observations préliminaires, vous
avez dit avoir fait une consultation. Pourriez-vous étre plus précis?
Avez-vous simplement téléphoné a des gens? Avez-vous, en fait,
rencontré des groupes? Quelle forme a eu cette consultation?

M. Gill: Nous avons rencontré le Comité inter-Eglises, et aussi
M. Yaron et, aussi, des membres de Démocratie en surveillance
pour parler de ces questions.

Le président: A nos audiences qui auront lieu dans deux
semaines, nous avons prévu d’entendre les témoignages de
certaines personnes sur le dépot de demande aux sociétés visant
des changements quelconques. Il serait utile que vous puissiez
envoyer un tableau a chaque membre du comité pour résumer ce
dont parlait le sénateur Meighen, c’est-a-dire les délais, etc., et
nous décrire un ou deux scénarios types. Ainsi nous serions plus a
I’aise avec le sujet lorsque nous entendrons ces témoins.

M. Gill: Nous pouvons le faire.

Le sénateur Banks: Vous avez dit que prés de la moitié des
grandes sociétés du Canada sont constituées en sociétés en vertu
de cette loi. Quelle loi régit la constitution en société des autres
compagnies?

M. Gill: Ce sont diverses lois provinciales, dont une grande
part sont de 1’Ontario.

Le sénateur Banks: Cependant, toutes les grandes sociétés
fédérales dont les actions sont cotées en bourse sont constituées en
société en vertu de cette 1oi?

M. Gill: Oui.

Le président: Je vous remercie beaucoup pour ces informa-
tions. Nous attendrons avec impatience ce document.

La séance est levée.
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